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HHLA’s container terminals link ships, rail networks and trucks
to create an efficient transport chain. The terminals in Hamburg
form the most important European hub between Asia and
Central/Eastern Europe. HHLA also operates a container
terminal in Odessa in Ukraine, in the Estonian port of Muuga
near Tallinn and in Trieste in Italy.

Revenue in € million

49 %
Share of
revenue

2023 I 708.8
2022 I ge4.2

HHLA's rail companies operate a comprehensive transport
and terminal network for container transport and connect ports
on the North Sea, Baltic Sea and Northern Adriatic with their
hinterland. Truck transport in the local area and in European
long-distance traffic as well as transhipments within the Port
of Hamburg round off the service portfolio.

Revenue in € million

2023 I  620.5
2022 | ——— 595.4

43 %
Share of
revenue

In this segment, HHLA pools a wide range of port-related
services such as dry bulk, vehicle and fruit logistics. Process
automation, air-based logistics services and other digital
services for the intermodal sector complete the range of
services. HHLA also markets its expertise in infrastructure
and project development worldwide.

Revenue in € million

5%
Share of
revenue

2023 I,  78.2
2022 e

With the long-term development of the landmarked
Speicherstadt historical warehouse district as well as the
Hamburg Fish Market on the banks of the River Elbe in Altona,
HHLA is committed to a site development that is in line

with the market and geared towards sustainability.

Revenue in € million

2023 I, 46.5
2022 |—— 44

3%
Share of
revenue
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Financial key figures

HHLA Group
HHLA Group

in € million 2023 2022 Change
Revenue and earnings
Revenue 1,446.8 1,578.4 -83%
EBITDA 287.8 396.3 -274 %
EBITDA margin in % 19.9 25.1 -5.2pp
EBIT 109.4 220.4 -50.4 %
EBIT margin in % 7.6 14.0 -6.4 pp
Group profit after tax 42.4 133.1 -68.2 %
Group profit after tax and minority interests 20.0 92.7 -785%
Cash flow statement and investments
Cash flow from operating activities 224.4 279.3 -19.7 %
Investments 314.0 203.1 54.6 %
Value added
Net value added 644.0 774.6 -16.9 %
Performance data
Container throughput in thousand TEU 5,917 6,396 -75%
Container transport in thousand TEU 1,602 1,694 -5.4%
in € million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022 Change
Balance sheet
Balance sheet total 3,010.2 2,770.9 8.6 %
Equity 807.3 873.3 -76%
Equity ratio in % 26.8 31.5 -4.7 pp
HHLA subgroups

Port Logistics subgroup 2 Real Estate subgroup”?
in € million 2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change
Revenue 1,408.9 1,542.3 -86% 46.5 441 53 %
EBITDA 262.0 369.6 -291 % 25.8 26.6 -31%
EBITDA margin in % 18.6 24.0 -5.4pp 55.5 60.3 -4.8pp
EBIT 92.9 201.6 -53.9 % 16.1 18.4 -125%
EBIT margin in % 6.6 13.1 - 6.5 pp 34.7 41.8 -7.1pp
Profit after tax and minority interests 8.7 82.1 -89.4 % 11.3 10.6 6.3 %
Earnings per share in €* 0.12 1.13 -89.4 % 417 3.93 6.3 %
Dividend per share in €° 0.08 0.75 -89.3 % 2.20 2.20 0.0 %
1 Before consolidation between subgroups
2 Listed class A shares
3 Non-listed class S shares
4 Basic and diluted
5 Dividend proposal for 2023
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Non-financial key figures
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Ecology
2023 2022 Change
CO.e emissions incl. electricity from renewable energies
in thousand tonnes 105.5 118.2 -10.7 %
Direct COe emissions (Scope 1 emissions) 51.7 65.4 -209 %
Indirect COe emissions (Scope 2 emissions) 53.7 52.8 1.7 %
Diesel, petrol and heating oil in million | 18.3 23.2 -211 %
Natural' gas in million m? 1.5 1.7 -11.8%
Electricity in million kWh 352.9 356.2 -09%
of which electricity from renewables in million kWh 207.4 190.4 8.9 %
District heating in million kWh 3.3 3.9 -15.4 %
District heating from renewable energy in million kWh 2.4 2.8 -143 %
Water consumption in m® 95,613 106,693 -10.4 %
Volumes of waste? in tonnes 8,543 8,635 -1.1%
thereof non-hazardous waste 7171 6,480 10.7 %
thereof hazardous waste 1,372 2,155 -36.3 %
Employees
31.12.2023 31.12.2022 Change
Number of employees 6,789 6,641 22 %
Number of recruitments® 157 185 -15.1 %
Average employment period in Germany in years 16.1 15.8 1.9 %
Average employment period outside Germany in years 7.0 8.2 -14.6 %
Fluctuation rate in Germany in % 5.6 5.4 0.2 pp
Fluctuation rate outside Germany in % 9.3 10.0 -0.7 pp
Expenditure on educating and training® in € million 5.0 5.1 -20%
Number of notifiable accidents® (excluding accidents when commuting) 89.0 89.0 0.0 %
Loss time injury rate® per 1 million working hours 11.8 11.8 0.0 %
1 Consumption of natural gas and traction current partly estimated
2 In Germany
3 In Hamburg
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Foreword

Angela Titzrath

Chief Executive Officer

View the video statement by the Chairwoman of the Executive Board in the online Annual Report [/,

Dear shareholders,

The global economy faced major challenges in 2023. The ongoing war in Ukraine, the mili-
tary escalation in the Middle East, rising geopolitical tensions, high inflation and interest rate
hikes all impacted the economy and continued to impede the recovery from the pandemic.
Over the course of the year, the outlook became increasingly gloomy, with economic growth
in Germany even turning negative towards the end of 2023.

Undaunted by this challenging environment, HHLA continued to pursue one of the biggest
transformation programmes for its Hamburg facilities in decades - in the firm belief that now
is the right time to invest in a successful future and the resilience of its business model. For
example, Germany'’s largest container terminal at Burchardkai is currently being retrofitted
during day-to-day operations to automate the storage crane systems and horizontal trans-
port. At the same time, new control software is being installed at all terminals in order to
network the entire handling process, while our corporate functions continue to digitalise their
workflows and make preparations for the switch to the new SAP generation S/4HANA. In the
past year, we also pressed ahead with new growth areas and sustainability initiatives as part
of our mission to become climate-neutral. In our view, these are decisive competitive factors
and key differentiators for the future.
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While the above-mentioned economic weakness resulted in even lower throughput volumes
than anticipated at the beginning of the year, there were inflation-induced cost hikes for
materials, maintenance and personnel. This is clearly reflected in the company’s earnings
during this transition phase of the transformation process. The forecasts issued by leading
economic research institutes for 2024 are equally cautious. Added to this are changes in the
logistics industry, such as the restructuring of shipping company alliances, which present
both new challenges but also new opportunities for HHLA.

Undaunted by the challenging environment, HHLA
continued to press ahead with its investments in
modernisation, sustainability initiatives and new
growth areas in 2023.

Angela Titzrath, Chairwoman of the Executive Board

Against the backdrop of these developments, we also evaluated the announcement by the
Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg - the majority owner of HHLA — that the company
should be controlled jointly in future with Mediterranean Shipping Company (MSC) via Port
of Hamburg Beteiligungsgesellschaft SE. To this end, the City of Hamburg declared its inten-
tion in September 2023 to maintain a 50.1 percent share while MSC would hold a share of
up to 49.9 percent. In accordance with this agreement, MSC made a voluntary public
takeover bid to our shareholders in October, which we, the Executive Board of HHLA,
closely examined together with the Supervisory Board before issuing our detailed assess-
ment in the form of a “reasoned statement”. After weighing up many important aspects and
taking into account an external “fairness opinion”, the Executive Board and Supervisory
Board announced their recommendation to accept the offer.

One prerequisite for this recommendation was that the meetings between the City of
Hamburg and MSC succeeded in achieving a shared understanding of how HHLA and its
business model can be safeguarded over the long term. In a preliminary agreement on this
matter, HHLA received various commitments: € 450 million of additional equity to strengthen
the transformation process already underway, significant commitments regarding the work-
force, and a commitment to uphold the neutrality of the business model, as well as the
strategy and investment planning.

Subject to conditions precedent, such as approval by the Hamburg Parliament, the transac-
tion will be completed in mid-2024. At the time of writing this report, not all conditions had
yet been met. In general, we regard this offer as proof of the attractiveness of HHLA as a
European logistics company with a unique network of seaport terminals, hinterland connec-
tions and intermodal hubs.

HHLA ANNUAL REPORT 2023 8
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Despite all the economic obstacles, HHLA continued to drive its corporate development in
2023. We not only put new storage crane systems into operation in Hamburg but also devel-
oped a new digital solution for trucks entering our terminals. In Tallinn, we joined forces with
FERNRIDE to test an innovative system for self-driving vehicles. Our sustainability efforts
also made good progress: we now offer more European connections via our rail subsidiary
METRANS in order to shift even more goods from the road to more eco-friendly railway
transport. And together with our partners, we began work to provide container ships in the
Port of Hamburg with shore-side electricity. These activities underline our efforts to secure
the company’s future success while promoting the development of sustainable, innovative
solutions for the logistics landscape of the future. As challenging as these uncertain times
may be, they also present us with a wealth of opportunities.

Yours,

{. Uit
yt. UHHM{
Angela Titzrath

Chairwoman of the Executive Board
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Members of the Executive Board

¥
[ =1

Angela Titzrath Annette Walter Jens Hansen Torben Seebold
Chief Executive Officer Member of the Member of the Member of the
Executive Board' Executive Board Executive Board
B Corporate development
®  Corporate communications B Finance and controlling L] Operations2 B Director of labor relations
B Sustainability B |nvestor relations ®  Engineering? B Purchasing and materials
B Container sales B |nternal audit B |nformation systems management
B Intermodal segment " Real Estate segment B Health and safety in the
. _— workplace
B [ogistics segment B Organisation .
B | egal and insurance
B Compliance

Tanja Dreilich
Member of the
Executive Board?®
B Finance and controlling
B |nvestor relations

. 1 Since 1 January 2024
®  |nternal audit ) o

2 excluding Real Estate, for the Intermodal and Logistics segments

®  Real Estate segment in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer
B Qrganisation 3 Until 31 July 2023
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Prof. Dr. Riidiger Grube

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders,

Financial year 2023 was a challenging year. The ongoing war in Ukraine, geopolitical
tensions, inflation and rising interest rates dampened consumer and industrial demand and
hindered the global economic recovery in the aftermath of the pandemic — and the impact of
these effects was felt clearly by HHLA. A further key event in the past financial year was the
agreement between the City of Hamburg and MSC Mediterranean Shipping Company S.A.,
Switzerland (MSC), that saw MSC acquire a stake of up to 49.9 % in HHLA after submitting
a voluntary public takeover bid for the HHLA shares via Port of Hamburg Beteiligungsge-
sellschaft SE.

These and other events shaped the work of the Supervisory Board during the reporting
period. Against this backdrop, the Supervisory Board dutifully fulfilled the responsibilities
entrusted to it by law, the company’s articles of association and rules of procedure, and the
German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) with the necessary diligence. Having continu-
ously monitored the Executive Board’s management of business and provided advice on the
company’s strategic development and on key individual measures, we concluded that the
management of the company and its internal control and risk management system is lawful,
proper and appropriate.
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Cooperation with the Executive Board

The Supervisory Board was involved in all decisions of major significance for the company.
The Executive Board provided us with regular, prompt and comprehensive information on all
major developments, in particular regarding the situation of the company and the Group,
corporate planning, fundamental issues of company policy and strategy, investment plans
and personnel. All measures for which the approval of the Supervisory Board or one of its
committees was required by law, the articles of association or the Executive Board’s code of
practice were submitted on time. After conducting their own review and discussions with the
Executive Board, the Supervisory Board or its committees approved all such measures. As
Chairman of the Supervisory Board, | was also in regular contact with the Executive Board,
and particularly the Chief Executive Officer, between meetings. | was informed about plan-
ning and strategy, the current business situation, significant transactions, the risk position,
risk management and compliance.

The work of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board held four ordinary meetings and seven special meetings in the 2023
financial year. At the ordinary meetings, we regularly look at the current revenue, earnings
and liquidity trend as well as the current business situation of the company and the indi-
vidual segments, including the risk position, risk management and compliance. During the
meetings, the Executive Board informed the Supervisory Board about the economic, finan-
cial and strategic position of the company and the Group, as well as the company’s strategy
and significant developments and events. Issues relating to IT security and sustainability,
particularly with regard to the monitoring of environmental and social sustainability measures
in strategic alignment and corporate planning, are also regularly discussed. In addition, the
Management Board regularly reported to us during the reporting period on the effects of the
ongoing war in Ukraine on our terminal in Odessa.

The other focal points of the meetings during the reporting period can be summarised as
follows:

The financial statements meeting held on 21 March 2023 focused as scheduled on the
auditing and approval of HHLA’s annual financial statements, including the individual divi-
sional financial statements for the A and S divisions, the consolidated financial statements
(including subgroup financial statements), the combined management report of HHLA and
the Group, the Supervisory Board report, the reports on transactions with related parties and
on the relationship between the A and S divisions, the separate non-financial report and
remuneration report, each for the 2022 financial year, as well as the format and agenda for
the 2023 Annual General Meeting, including the Executive Board’s proposal on the appropri-
ation of profit and the candidates proposed for the election of the auditor for the 2023 finan-
cial year. Representatives of the auditor attended the meeting, reported on the main results
of their audit and were available to answer questions. At this meeting, we also discussed the
stake held by COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited (CSP) in Container Terminal Tollerort (CTT)
and the further expansion of our terminal in Trieste.
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The first special meeting on 27 April 2023 was also used to discuss the stake held by CSP
in CTT, in particular the status of its approval under foreign trade law. This approval was
granted following the meeting on 10 May 2023 so that the transaction could be completed.

At our second ordinary meeting on 24 May 2023, we primarily focused on preparations for
the upcoming Annual General Meeting and various other current topics, including the
various geopolitical crises and sluggish economic growth. Other topics included Executive
Board and Supervisory Board matters, including preparations for the self-assessment of the
Supervisory Board, which was carried out in the following months.

The special meeting on 7 June 2023 dealt mainly with the premature departure of Tanja
Dreilich from the Executive Board. The result was that Tanja Dreilich and HHLA came to an
amicable understanding that she would leave the company as of the end of 2023 and would
step down from her position as member of the Executive Board with effect from

30 June 2023 in order to take on new professional challenges.

At a further special meeting on 30 June 2023, we primarily discussed the matter of finding a
successor for the position of Chief Financial Officer, as well as the self-assessment of the
Supervisory Board’s work.

Significant topics covered during the ordinary meeting on 30 August 2023 were a discussion
of the current business development, particularly the effects on HHLA of sluggish economic
growth and the various geopolitical tensions, as well as the status of the implementation of
the efficiency programme in the Container segment.

The progress made in implementing the Container segment’s efficiency programme was also
a focal point of our strategy meeting on 5 September 2023. A further area of focus was
HHLA'’s sustainability strategy, which we discussed in detail. Finally, we also revisited the
topic of finding a successor to the Chief Financial Officer during this meeting.

The special meetings on 13 September 2023 and 27 September 2023 dealt with MSC’s
intention to acquire a stake of up to 49.9 % in HHLA — which remains (indirectly) majority-
owned by the City of Hamburg with a stake of at least 50.1 % — and to this end to submit a
voluntary public takeover offer for the HHLA shares via its subsidiary Port of Hamburg
Beteiligungsgesellschaft SE. At the meeting on 27 September 2023, we decided to establish
an equally representated Takeover Committee. The reason for setting up this Takeover
Committee was that MSC’s and the City of Hamburg’s intention for MSC to acquire a stake
in HHLA would likely lead to potential conflicts of interest for Supervisory Board members
employed by the City of Hamburg or Hamburger Gesellschaft fir Vermdgens- und Beteili-
gungsmanagement mbH (HGV) — namely, Dr. Isabella Niklas, Andreas Rieckhof and

Dr. Sibylle Roggencamp. In order to ensure an impartial and independent assessment of the
takeover bid and its consequences, we decided that the Takeover Committee composed of
independent members would advise and make final decisions on all matters pertaining to
the takeover bid, in place of the Supervisory Board. This related in particular to the prepara-
tion and adoption of the reasoned opinion on the takeover bid to be submitted by the Exec-
utive Board and Supervisory Board, as well as the approval to conclude a binding prelimi-
nary contract for a Business Combination Agreement between HHLA, the bidder and its sole
shareholder at the time, SAS Shipping Agencies Services Sarl (SAS), as well as HGV, that
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sets out the common understanding of key areas regarding the long-term preservation of
HHLA and its business model and that contains key commitments to HHLA. The Takeover
Committee comprises three independent representatives of the shareholders,

Prof. Dr. Rudiger Grube, Dr. Norbert Kloppenburg and Prof. Dr. Burkhard Schwenker, and
three representatives of the employees, Berthold Bose, Holger Heinzel and Stefan Koop.

At our final ordinary meeting on 14 December 2023, we dealt with the budget for 2024, the
medium-term planning for the period from 2025 to 2028, the findings of the risk and oppor-
tunity inventory, and the declaration of compliance with the GCGC. Other topics included, in
particular, the adoption of a framework for guarantees in connection with subsidies, approval
for the granting of a power of attorney, a discussion of the Group’s funding situation and an
investment project, as well as Executive Board and Supervisory Board matters.

At the last special meeting on 29 December 2023, we dealt with Executive Board matters
and specifically the imminent inauguration of Annette Walter as Chief Financial Officer and
the extension of Angela Titzrath’s term of office for a further five years.

Ordinary meetings are attended by all members of the Supervisory Board and, as a rule, also
by the members of the Executive Board. However, the Supervisory Board also meets
routinely without the Executive Board, particularly when Executive Board matters or internal
Supervisory Board topics are to be discussed. The auditor’s reports also give the Supervi-
sory Board the opportunity to discuss topics with the auditor without the Executive Board
being present.

No conflicts of interest regarding members of the Executive Board arose during the reporting
period. As mentioned above, the Supervisory Board set up a Takeover Committee to deal
with issues arising from the intention of MSC and the City of Hamburg for MSC to acquire a
stake in HHLA and the resulting potential conflicts of interests. The Supervisory Board does
not include any former members of the company’s Executive Board.

Committee work

The Supervisory Board has set up a total of six standing committees: the Finance
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Real Estate Committee, the Personnel Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Arbitration Committee. Furthermore, as mentioned above,
the Supervisory Board set up an additional committee — the Takeover Committee — in
September 2023 in order to handle MSC’s intention to acquire a stake in HHLA.

Following any committee work, the chairs report to the Supervisory Board about the
committees’ activities. With the exception of the Nomination Committee, all of the commit-
tees include an equal number of shareholder and employee representatives. Corporate
governance declaration

The Finance Committee held four meetings during the 2023 financial year. At each regular
meeting, the Committee deals with the Group’s financial performance and its general finan-
cial and earnings position. Furthermore, as in the December meeting, it is also concerned
with the preliminary review of the budget for the coming year and the relevant medium-term
planning. The Finance Committee is also responsible for the preliminary review of major
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financing, investment and participation plans. Major topics during the reporting period were
various investment projects, the further expansion of our terminal in Trieste, Group financing
measures and creating a framework for guarantees connected with applications for subsi-
dies by Group companies.

The Audit Committee held four meetings in the reporting period. Its work regularly focuses
on monitoring accounting and overseeing the accounting process and the audit. This
includes the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk management system, the
internal audit system and compliance, along with the compliance management system. The
committee monitors the selection of the auditor, as well as the auditor’s qualifications, effi-
ciency and independent status as well as the quality of the audit. It also discusses with the
auditor the assessment of the audit risk as well as the audit strategy, schedule and results.
The Chair of the Audit Committee regularly discusses the audit’s progress with the auditor
and reports to the Audit Committee. Furthermore, the Audit Committee deals with the relia-
bility of any additional services provided by the auditor (non-audit services). To assist with
this, the Audit Committee has adopted a catalogue listing approved non-audit services by
type and scope. Finally, the Audit Committee decides on the external review of non-financial
statements and reports. Key issues during the reporting period included, as scheduled, the
discussion and audit of HHLA’'s Annual Report, consolidated financial statements and the
combined management report for the 2022 financial year, the half-year financial report and
interim statements for the 2023 financial year, the work performed by Internal Audit, the
determination of key audit issues for the 2023 financial year and, in this context, discussion
of the audit risk, strategy and planning with the auditor, the findings of the 2023 risk and
opportunity inventory, the annual report and audit plans of Internal Audit, and the prepara-
tion of the declaration of compliance with the GCGC. During the reporting period, the Audit
Committee also discussed the company’s financial and liquidity position, as well as the
external audit of HHLA'’s risk and opportunity management system in accordance with the
IDW PS 981 standard. HHLA's Compliance Officer also regularly attends the Audit
Committee’s meetings and reports on his activities as well as current developments. Other
persons, such as representatives of the auditor or Internal Audit, attend meetings as neces-
sary. The Audit Committee regularly consults with the auditor, with or without the presence
of the Executive Board. The Chair of the Audit Committee is also in regular contact with the
auditor and the Chief Financial Officer between meetings.

The Real Estate Committee held two meetings in the reporting period. It focused on the
general development of business and the discussion and audit of HHLA’s annual financial
statements, including the separate financial statements of the S division, the consolidated
financial statements and the combined management report for the 2022 financial year
(March meeting). The committee also dealt with the budget for the 2024 financial year and
medium-term planning for 2025 to 2028 (December meeting). In each case, its deliberations
related to the Real Estate subgroup (S division). These meetings also allowed the Real
Estate Committee to discuss various project developments.
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The Personnel Committee held ten meetings in the reporting period. These meetings
focused on finding a successor to the Chief Financial Officer with regard to the departure of
Tanja Dreilich, as well as on extending Angela Titzrath’s term of office.

The Takeover Committee met a total of 13 times and primarily discussed the preparation
and adoption of the reasoned opinion to be submitted by the Executive Board and Supervi-
sory Board in accordance with Section 27 of the German Securities and Takeover Act
(WpUG), as well as the negotiations and approval to conclude a binding preliminary contract
for a business combination agreement between HHLA, the bidder, SAS and HGV.

The Nomination Committee and Arbitration Committee did not hold any meetings during
the reporting period.

Meeting participants

The Supervisory Board and its committees generally hold in-person meetings, although
there is the option of participating virtually in order to enable as many people as possible to
take part. In exceptional cases — particularly in the case of special meetings held at short
notice or where the agenda contains few items — meetings can be held purely virtually
(generally as a video conference). During the reporting period, this applied to three Supervi-
sory Board meetings (30 June, 27 September and 29 December), five Personnel Committee
meetings (23 January, 30 May, 28 June, 14 July and 29 December), and four Takeover
Committee meetings (10 and 19 October, as well as 6 and 24 November). Several partici-
pants joined the meetings by phone in individual cases; no meetings were held purely as
telephone conferences during the reporting period. The average attendance at the meetings
of the Supervisory Board and its committees in the reporting period was approximately

95 %. Individual participation rates are documented in the table below.

Individual attendance at meetings of the members of the Supervisory Board

in 2023
Real

Supervisory Finance Audit Estate Personnel Nomination  Takeover
Total Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
Prof. Dr. Rudiger Grube 100 % 11/11 - - - 10/10 0/0 13/13
Berthold Bose 97 % 11/11 - - - 9/10 - 13/13
Alexander Grant 100 % 11711 4/4 4/4 2/2 - - -
Holger Heinzel 100 % 11/11 - - 2/2 - - 13/13
Dr. Norbert Kloppenburg 100 % 11/11 4/4 4/4 - - - 13/13
Stefan Koop 100 % 11/11 4/4 4/4 - 10/10 - 13/13
Dr. Isabella Niklas 82 % 11/11 - 2/4 2/2 - - -
Susana Pereira Ventura 68 % 7/11 3/4 3/4 - - - -
Franziska Reisener 96 % 11/11 - - 2/2 9/10 - -
Andreas Rieckhof 100 % 11/11 - - - 10/10 0/0 -
Dr. Sibylle Roggencamp 96 % 10/ 11 4/4 - 2/2 10/10 0/0 -
Prof. Dr. Burkhard Schwenker 88 % 9/11 4/4 3/4 2/2 - - 12/13
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Corporate governance

The declaration of compliance with the GCGC in accordance with Section 161 of the
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz: AktG) was prepared together with the Execu-
tive Board at the Audit Committee meeting on 13 November 2023 and adopted by the
Supervisory Board at its meeting on 14 December 2023. The current declaration of compli-

ance and further information about corporate governance can be found in the declaration on

corporate governance in the management report. The current declaration and the declara-

tions relating to previous years can also be viewed on HHLA’s website at www.hhla.de/
corporategovernance [/].

Training and professional development

HHLA supports the members of the Supervisory Board upon their appointment and in their
subsequent training and further professional development. When taking up a post, candidates
are generally trained in the work of the Supervisory Board, its tasks and the rights and obliga-
tions of its members. If required, further inductions or training sessions are provided to cover
HHLA’s business activities or other relevant topics. In the course of its work, the Supervisory
Board is kept regularly informed of relevant topics, such as new legal requirements or accoun-
ting standards. In the reporting period, one area of focus was the topic of sustainability,
including the relevant regulatory requirements and their implementation within the HHLA
Group.

Audit of financial statements

In line with the Audit Committee’s recommendation and the Supervisory Board’s nomination,
the Annual General Meeting on 15 June 2023 elected PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Hamburg (PwC) to conduct the audit of the annual and
consolidated financial statements for the 2023 financial year. In line with the legal requirements
and the recommendations of the GCGC — especially those relating to the auditor’s indepen-
dence - the Audit Committee then commissioned the audit and defined its focus areas. The
auditor carried out an audit of HHLA's annual financial statements for the 2023 financial year
as provided by the Executive Board, including the divisional financial statements for the

A division (Port Logistics subgroup) and the S division (Real Estate subgroup) presented as
part of the notes, in line with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB), the
consolidated financial statements for the 2023 financial year including the subgroup financial
statements for the A and S divisions, also presented as part of the notes, in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) that apply in the European Union and
the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e HGB, and
the combined management report for HHLA and the Group for the 2023 financial year. The
auditor issued an unqualified opinion with respect to each of the foregoing.

The auditors also audited the report prepared by the HHLA Executive Board on company
transactions with related parties for the 2023 financial year in line with Section 312 AktG,
delivered a written report on the audit findings and, having no objections to make, gave the
report the following unqualified opinion:
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“On the basis of our audit and in our professional opinion we confirm that (1) the factual
statements in the report are correct, (2) the consideration paid by the company for the
transactions mentioned in the report was not inappropriately high, and (3) the measures
detailed in the report give us no grounds to reach a substantially different opinion to that of the
Executive Board."

The auditor also audited the report prepared by the Executive Board in line with Article 4 (5)
of the articles of association applied analogously to Section 312 AktG on the relationship
between the A and S divisions for the 2023 financial year, delivered a written report on the
audit findings and, having no objections to make, gave the report the following unqualified
opinion:

“On the basis of our audit and in our professional opinion we confirm that (1) the factual
statements in the report are correct, (2) the consideration paid by the company for the
transactions mentioned in the report was not inappropriately high.”

The auditor also reviewed the combined separate non-financial statement in line with Sec-
tion 315¢c and Section 289c to 289e HGB to obtain limited assurance, reported the review
findings and issued an unqualified opinion. Finally, the auditor subjected the remuneration
report for the 2023 financial year to a material audit exceeding the requirements of Section
162(3) AktG, reported the review findings and issued an unqualified opinion.

Each of the above-mentioned financial statements and reports along with the corresponding
audit reports were made available to all members of the Supervisory Board as soon as they had
been produced and checked. The documents were subsequently discussed in detail at the
meetings of the Audit and Real Estate Committees on 15 March 2024 and at the Supervisory
Board’s financial statements meeting held on 20 March 2024. Representatives of the auditor
took part in the meetings, where they reported on the scope, focal points and key findings of the
audit and were available to answer questions. They paid particular attention to the key audit
matters described in the auditor's report along with the audit procedures used and the conclu-
sions regarding the accounting-related internal control and risk management system. Finally,
they reported on the nature and extent of the other services provided by the auditor.

As part of the preliminary review, the Audit and Real Estate Committees closely examined
the course of the audit, the auditor’s reports and the findings. Once they had completed
their examination, they recommended that the Supervisory Board as a whole approve the
financial statements and reports. Following a detailed plenary examination of the auditor’s
reports and findings and the findings of the committees’ preliminary review, and based on
our own review, we approved the findings of the audit. Based on the final results of our
review, we had no objections to make to the annual financial statements including the divi-
sional financial statements, the consolidated financial statements including the subgroup
financial statements, and the combined management report for the 2023 financial year.
Accordingly, we approved the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial state-
ments and the combined management report at our meeting on 20 March 2024. HHLA's
annual financial statements for the 2023 financial year have therefore been adopted. Based
on the final results of our review, we also had no objections to make to the Executive
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Board’s statements on related parties and on the relationship between the A and S divisions
or to the combined separate non-financial statement.

The Executive Board’s proposal for appropriation of the distributable profit was analysed
and discussed with the Executive Board at the meetings of the Audit Committee (for the

A division) and the Real Estate Committee (for the S division) on 17 March 2024 and at the
Supervisory Board’s meeting on 20 March 2024. Following our own review, which paid
particularly close attention to earning trends, financial planning and shareholders’ interests,
both we and the Executive Board will propose to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend
of € 0.08 per dividend-entitled class A share and € 2.20 per dividend-entitled class S share
be distributed from distributable profit for the 2023 financial year.

Personnel changes

In December 2023, the Supervisory Board members Dr. Isabella Niklas and Susanna Pereira
Ventura both announced that they would be stepping down from the Supervisory Board at the
next possible date. In their place, with the approval of the Supervisory Board and the Nomina-
tion Committee and by order of the Hamburg Local Court on 19 February 2024, Bettina Lentz,
State Secretary of the Hamburg Ministry of Finance, and Maren Ulbrich, Trade Union Secretary
at the ver.di Federal Administration, were appointed members of the Supervisory Board.

Tanja Dreilich stepped down from her position as member of the Executive Board with effect
from 30 June 2023 and left the company as of the end of the year in order to take on new
professional challenges. The Supervisory Board initiated the necessary steps to find a
successor during the reporting period and - following preparations by the Personnel
Committee — appointed Annette Walter as Chief Financial Officer with effect from

1 January 2024 for an initial period of three years. Moreover, we extended Angela Titzrath’s
mandate by a further five years until 30 September 2029 - also following preparations by the
Personnel Committee.

Finally, on behalf of the Supervisory Board, | would like to take the opportunity to very
cordial thank the members of the Executive Board and workforce for their hard work in the
2023 financial year. | would also like to thank our shareholders and business partners for the
trust they have placed in us.

Hamburg, 20 March 2024

The Supervisory Board

Prof. Dr. Rudiger Grube
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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HHLA share

Key figures
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Further information

in €, listed class A shares, Xetra
Closing price

Performance in %

Highest price

Lowest price

Average daily trading volume
Dividend'

Dividend yield as of 31.12. in %
Number of shares

Market capitalisation as of 31.12. in € million
Price-earnings ratio as of 31.12.

Earnings per share

2023
16.76
40.8
17.62
10.00
86,145
0,08
0,5
72,514,938
1,215.4
139,7
0,12

2022
11.90
-42.1
21.06
10.98

51,100
0.75

6.3
72,514,938
862.9

10.5

1.13

1 Dividend proposal for the 2023 financial year

Exceptional year on the stock exchange

Despite continuing major geopolitical uncertainties, the German benchmark indices
performed surprisingly well in the past year. China’s unexpected abandonment of its zero-
COVID policy and the decline in energy prices following the launch of Germany’s energy
price caps helped the country’s stock markets get off to a positive start in the new year. This
upbeat market sentiment came to an abrupt end, however, with the closure of three regional
US banks in early March. The resulting insolvency of the major Swiss bank Credit Suisse led
to heightened uncertainty and greater volatility on the capital markets. At the same time,
market sentiment was burdened by the ongoing weakness of the German economy and
Chinese industrial output figures which fell short of expectations. Nevertheless, falling infla-
tion rates gave rise to optimism on the markets from April onwards and fuelled hopes of an
imminent end to the cycle of US and eurozone interest rate hikes. Contrary to expectations,
however, the European Central Bank (ECB) raised its base rate in August and September by
0.25 percentage points each time to reach 4.5 %. The ongoing economic slump continued
to hinder any recovery of share prices and repeatedly caused the benchmark index to sink to
ever lower levels. It was only when the US Federal Reserve signalled the possibility of lower
interest rates that sentiment improved and shares began to rally towards year-end: in early
December the DAX broke through the 17,000-point mark for the first time with a new all-time
high of 17,003 points. It closed the year with a rise of 20.3 % to 16,752 points. The SDAX
stood at 13,960 points at year-end, representing growth of 17.1 % in 2023.

HHLA ANNUAL REPORT 2023

21



To our stakeholders Management report Financial statements Further information

Share price development 2023

Closing prices
indexed, in %
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Volatile development of HHLA share

The HHLA share began the year at €11.94 and benefited from the positive market environ-
ment at the start of the year. After some profit-taking, the share price stabilised at around
€12.90. With the publication of the preliminary, unaudited annual results for 2022 in mid-
February, the company announced a subdued outlook for the first quarter of 2023 in the light
of ongoing geopolitical tensions, sanctions by the European Union and weaker economic
growth. As a result, the share price dipped noticeably. After communicating a cautiously
optimistic forecast for the development of business in 2023, as part of the reporting for 2022
in late March, the share price recovered. This positive trend was supported in early May by
the German government’s decision to approve the minority interest of the Chinese company
COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited (CSP) in Container Terminal Tollerort (CTT) of 24.9 %.
Following the Annual General Meeting and payment of the dividend in mid-June, the share
was traded at a corresponding discount. In an ad-hoc announcement in late July, HHLA
downgraded its outlook for the 2023 financial year in view of further weak economic growth.
The share price’s downward trend continued with the publication in mid-August of weak
half-year figures due to the macroeconomic situation. On 13 September, the announcement
of the submission of a voluntary public takeover bid by the Mediterranean Shipping
Company (MSC) with an offer of €16.75 per class A share saw the share price climb from
€11.54 to €17.20. The following day, the share price reached a year-high of €17.62 but
quickly stabilised around the offer price. After publication of MSC’s takeover bid in mid-
October, the HHLA Executive Board and Supervisory Board issued a joint statement on

6 November recommending that shareholders accept the offer. As a result, trading volumes
rocketed and the share price declined slightly. By the end of the year, the share price had
consolidated around the offer price and closed at €16.76 on 29 December 2023. This repre-
sents year-on-year growth of 40.8 %. For more information on the share price performance
and the HHLA share, please visit https://hhla.de/en/investors [7].
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Changed shareholder structure after takeover bid

On 13 September 2023, HHLA was informed by Shareholder structure for listed class A
its majority shareholder, the Free and Hanseatic share

City of Hamburg (FHH), that it had come to an
understanding with MSC as part of an invest-

as of 31.12.2023

ment agreement concerning a strategic invest- 8%

ment in HHLA. According to this agreement, the Free float

City of Hamburg will continue to be the majority 10% ' 69 %
shareholder and will run the company together MSC (acquired) HanseFarSs éril(yj/
with MSC in future. To this end, the City of 13 % of Hamburg
Hamburg intends to maintain a share of 50.1 % MSC (tendered)

while MSC will hold a share of up to 49.9 %. The
public takeover bid with the respective offer

document was published by MSC on Source: Share register
23 October 2023.

As a consequence, the shareholder base changed significantly in 2023. With regard to the
listed class A shares, FHH remained the company’s largest shareholder with an unchanged
stake of 69.3 %. However, as at 31 December 2023, MSC had already indirectly acquired
class A shares amounting to 12.9 % on the market via SAS Shipping Agencies Services Sarl
(SAS). As part of the takeover offer, an additional 10.1 % of the class A shares were
tendered to MSC by shareholders by the end of the extended acceptance period on

7 December 2023. Subject to the completion of the transaction, this corresponds to 23.0 %
of the share capital of the listed Port Logistics subgroup. The free float portion of A shares
fell accordingly to 7.6 %.

With regard to the HHLA Group's share capital (including the unlisted class S shares),
9.7 % of the free float class A shares were tendered to MSC by the end of the extended
acceptance period on 7 December 2023. As of 31 December 2023, the shipping company
also held shares acquired on the market amounting to 12.4 % of HHLA's share capital.
Subject to the completion of the transaction, a total of 22.2 % of the share capital can thus
be allocated to the shipping company as of 31 December 2023. Together, the City of
Hamburg and MSC would therefore hold 92.5 % of the HHLA Group's share capital as of
31 December 2023. For more information on the shareholder structure, please visit the
HHLA website. https://hhla.de/en/investors/share/shareholder-structure []

The completion of the transaction is still dependent on certain regulatory approvals that are
presented in the offer document, as well as on the approval of the Parliament of the Free
and Hanseatic City of Hamburg (FHH). Provided these conditions are fulfilled, the transaction
is expected to be concluded in the second quarter of 2024.
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Shareholder structure as of 31 December 2023

Number of in % of Group in % of share

shares share capital capital A shares

Subscribed capital (class A & class S shares) 75,219,438 100.0 -
Non-listed class S shares 2,704,500 3.6 -
Listed class A shares 72,514,938 96.4 100.0
Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg (class A shares) 50,215,336 66.8 69.3
MSC (class A shares, acquired) 9,357,782 12.4 12.9
MSC (class A shares, tendered)’ 7,325,366 9.7 10.1
Free float (class A shares) 5,616,454 7.5 7.6

Source share register
1 The transaction had not yet been finalised at the time this report was prepared.

Classes of shares at HHLA

The HHLA Group’s nominal capital comprises two different classes of shares:

class A shares (for the Port Logistics subgroup: € 72,514,938) and class S shares
(for the Real Estate subgroup: € 2,704,500). The share classes are based on the
Group structure, which was established in preparation for the initial public offering and
reflect the HHLA business model. Only the class A shares for the Port Logistics
subgroup are admitted for trading on the stock exchange and can be acquired. The
class S shares for the Real Estate subgroup are not listed on the stock exchange and
are wholly owned by the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg (FHH). They are not
traded on the stock exchange. The reason for this is that the class S division also
pursues objectives relating to urban development (such as maintaining UNESCO
World Heritage status), which are only compatible with the requirements of the capital
market to a limited extent. As part of the public takeover bid, MSC and FFH
concluded a non-tender agreement for the class S shares. This means that all class S
shares will continue to be held by the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg even after
the transaction is complete.

Virtual Annual General Meeting 2023

The Annual General Meeting was once again held as a virtual event on 15 June 2023. The
shareholders formally approved the actions of HHLA's Executive Board and Supervisory
Board for the 2022 financial year with a large majority. The proposal of the Supervisory
Board and Executive Board to issue a dividend of € 0.75 per listed class A share (previous
year: € 0.75) was also approved. As in the previous year, HHLA distributed dividends to its
class A shareholders totalling € 54.4 million. The dividend payout ratio of 66 % was therefore
at the upper end of the dividend payout range of 50 to 70 % of the annual net profit after
minority interests. The dividend was paid out to the shareholders on 19 June 2023. Based
on its closing price of € 11.86 on the day of the Annual General Meeting, the HHLA share
achieved a dividend vyield of 6.3 %.
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Dividend proposal for the 2023 financial year

At the Annual General Meeting on 13 June 2024,
the HHLA Executive Board and Supervisory
Board will propose a dividend of € 0.08 per divi-
dend-entitled class A share. The amount to be
distributed would thus decrease to € 5.8 million
(previous year: € 54.4 million).

HHLA therefore continues to pursue its dividend
policy of distributing between 50 and 70 % of

the Port Logistics subgroup’s relevant net profit
for the year to its shareholders, where possible.

Dialogue with capital market
maintained

Against the backdrop of intensive reporting,
rapid response times and an open dialogue with
financial analysts and investors continued to
play a significant role in HHLA's investor rela-
tions activities. In addition to digital formats, the
Chief Financial Officer and IR team attended a
total of six capital market conferences (previous
year: ten) in order to serve the needs of both
institutional and private investors and to main-
tain its dialogue with investors. The Executive
Board provided details on business develop-
ments during quarterly conference calls. HHLA
also provides a variety of digital channels,
including its website, the HTML Annual Report

Dividend per listed class A share

in €; payout ratio in %

0.70 0.75 0.75
67
0.08
|
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2023: Dividend proposal
Institutional investors by region
as of 31.12.2023
3% 2% each
Germany ‘ ‘ ’ ‘ \ Switzerland, France,
. Netherlands and
4% other regions
United Kingdom ‘
10 % 58 %
Finland United States
18 %
Australia

Source: HHLA / Shareholder ID

and a dedicated investor portal, to inform potential and current investors about the perfor-

mance of the HHLA share.

With its communication activities, the Investor Relations department maintains a close

dialogue with shareholders. In addition to informing interested members of the public, the

team also flags up issues of particular relevance to investors within the company. In addition

to the progress of the Container segment’s efficiency programme and the automation of

Container Terminal Burchardkai (CTB), the impact of inflation and the war in Ukraine, the

minority stake of CSPL in CTT and, in particular, the takeover bid by MSC, were of interest

to the capital market in 2023.
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Number of analysts continues to decrease

HHLA attaches great importance to broad and well-informed coverage of its share by finan-
cial analysts, as this gives interested investors the opportunity to familiarise themselves with
HHLA'’s business model and environment on the basis of independent analyses. The Execu-
tive Board and Investor Relations therefore remain in close contact with all financial analysts
in order to ensure a broad set of opinions.

Nevertheless, the number of financial analysts actively covering HHLA’s business develop-
ment and issuing research reports and recommendations fell from six to four in the course of
the year. As of the reporting date, two analysts recommended selling the share and two
analysts recommended holding.

Sustainability reporting and ratings

In addition to classic financial aspects, non-financial or ESG (Environmental, Social, Gover-
nance) figures play an increasingly important role in evaluating companies on the capital
market. As a responsible company, HHLA has been reporting extensively on its non-financial
performance since 2011. In order to underline the relevance of non-financial topics for HHLA
in its reporting, HHLA has published the non-financial statement as part of the Group
management report since 2022. HHLA’s reporting goes beyond the legally required informa-
tion in the non-financial statement and is essentially based on the internationally recognised
reporting standards of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Non-financial reporting

HHLA also champions the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by the United
Nations. Corporate and sustainability strategy

Based on this information, HHLA’s sustainability credentials are regularly evaluated by

ESG ratings agencies, such as MSCI, ISS-oekom, S&P Global Ratings ESG and the Carbon
Disclosure Project (CDP). In the CDP ranking for the 2022 financial year, HHLA achieved a
“B” rating. www.hhla.de/investoren/equity-story/nachhaltig-investieren [}

Basic data HHLA class A share

Type of shares No-par-value registered shares
ISIN/SIC DEOOOA0S8488 / A0S848
Symbol HHFA
Stock exchanges (officially registered) Frankfurt am Main, Hamburg
Segment Prime Standard
Sector Transport & Logistics
Index affiliation Prime All Share
Bloomberg / Reuters HHFA:GR / HHFGn.de
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About this report

The HHLA Annual Report is published every year, most recently on 23 March 2023. As of the
2022 financial year, non-financial information is reported in the combined management
report. There is no separate sustainability report.

The combined management report covers the business developments at both the HHLA
Group (HHLA) and Hamburger Hafen und Logistik Aktiengesellschaft (HHLA AG). Unless
otherwise stated, the key figures and information in this report comprise the entire consoli-
dated group. Notes to the consolidated financial statements, no. 3 Composition of the

Group

The reporting period is the 2023 financial year (1 January to 31 December 2023). The data
presented generally refers to this period or the facts and figures at the end of the reporting
period. If information refers to a different period of time, this is explicitly stated.

Data collection is carried out by the respective units responsible for such information using
representative methods for the reporting period. HHLA prepares its consolidated financial
statements and interim reports in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS). Further information on IFRS is provided in the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements. Notes to the consolidated financial statements, no. 2 Consolidation

principles

The separate financial statements of HHLA AG are prepared in line with the accounting
regulations of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The appropriation of profits is based
solely on the separate financial statements of HHLA AG. Annual financial statements of
HHLA AG

Unless otherwise indicated, the entire combined management report was audited with
reasonable assurance by PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC). Auditor’s report

Furthermore, the combined management report contains the non-financial statement
(NFS) as per Sections 315b, 315¢ in conjunction with 289¢ to 289e HGB. This includes the
disclosures within the scope of the European Union Taxonomy Regulation (2020/852).
Non-financial statement
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The audit of non-financial statement elements that are not part of the statutory audit of the
Group management report was performed with limited assurance. Auditor’s report They are
marked as follows in the document:

O Audit with limited assurance

Content in blue brackets is audited with limited assurance.

The non-financial statement also contains supplementary non-financial information that is
not legally required but is included in the non-financial statement for reasons of trans-
parency. These sections were not subjected to a content-related audit and are marked in the
document as follows:

Content in grey brackets was not subjected to a content-related audit.

External links are marked with the symbol [/} and are not part of the review.
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Basic Group information

Group structure

Hamburger Hafen und Logistik AG (HHLA) is a leading European port logistics group. The
Group is operated as a strategic management holding company divided into two
subgroups, Port Logistics and Real Estate. The class A shares, which are listed on the stock
exchange, relate to the Port Logistics subgroup and entitle shareholders to participate in
the result and net assets of these operations. The Real Estate subgroup includes those
HHLA properties that are not specific to port handling. The performance and economic
result of the Real Estate subgroup, which also pursues urban development objectives, are
represented by the class S shares. These shares are not traded on the stock exchange and
are held solely by the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg (FHH). In the unlikely and
unprecedented event of the Real Estate subgroup reporting a loss, this would be indirectly
transferred to the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg in line with a separate agreement to
assume losses.

The HHLA Group’s operations are conducted by 37 domestic and 31 foreign subsidiaries
and associated companies. In the 2023 financial year, HHLA increased its group of consol-
idated companies with a view to optimising its Intermodal business and expanding its digital
activities. No other significant legal or organisational changes were made. Notes to the
consolidated financial statements, no. 3 Composition of the Group

Group overview

N |

SUBGROUP SUBGROUP
Port Logistics’ Real Estate

Listed class A shares Non-listed class S shares
SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT SEGMENT

Container Intermodal Logistics Real Estate

Shareholder structure
Share capital: total of 75,219,438 no-par-value registered shares

of which 72,514,938 class A shares of which 2,704,500 class
— listed - S shares — non-listed —
Mediterranean Shipping Company (MSC) Free float Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg

9,357,782 class A shares, W 13,013,993 W 50,215,336 class A shares

acquired on the stock market class A shares B 2,704,500 class S shares

W 7,325,366 class A shares, tendered
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Operating activities

As an integrated provider of container handling, transport and logistics services, the Port
Logistics subgroup offers services along the logistics chain between international ports
and their European hinterland. The geographical focus of its operating activities is on the
Port of Hamburg and its hinterland. The Port of Hamburg is an international hub for
container transport by sea and land, with links to the economies of Central and Eastern
Europe, Scandinavia and the Baltic region. The company’s core lines of business are repre-
sented by the Container, Intermodal and Logistics segments.

The Container segment pools the Group’s container handling operations and is the largest

business unit in terms of revenue. Its activities consist primarily of handling container ships
(loading and discharging containers) and transhipping containers to other carriers, such as
rail, truck, feeder ship or barge. HHLA operates three container terminals in Hamburg —
Altenwerder (CTA), Burchardkai (CTB) and Tollerort (CTT) — and further container terminals in
the Ukrainian port of Odessa (CTO), Muuga in Estonia (TK Estonia, near Tallinn) and Trieste
in Italy (PLT). The portfolio is rounded off by supplementary container services, such as
container maintenance and repairs.

The Intermodal segment is the second largest of HHLA’s segments in terms of revenue. As

a further key element of HHLA'’s vertically integrated business model, its activities provide a
comprehensive transportation and terminal network for containers in seaport-hinterland
traffic, and increasingly also in continental traffic, by rail and road. HHLA's METRANS rail
companies operate regular direct connections between the ports on the North and Baltic
seas and between the Northern Adriatic and its hinterland. Furthermore, the operation of
inland terminals also provides a comprehensive range of services for maritime and conti-
nental logistics. In addition to transhipment services at the Port of Hamburg, the trucking
subsidiary CTD transports containers by road, both locally and over long-haul distances
within Europe.

The Logistics segment encompasses a wide range of services in the field of specialist
handling, consulting and other business activities. Its service portfolio comprises both
stand-alone services and entire process chains for the international procurement and distrib-
ution of merchandise, including the operation of handling facilities for dry bulk, motor vehi-
cles and fruit. The company also provides consultancy and management services for clients
in the international port and transport industry. Business activities for process automation,
airborne logistics services, digital services and leasing services, particularly for the Inter-
modal segment, complete the portfolio. HHLA provides some of the activities together with
partner companies.

The Holding/Other division is also part of the Port Logistics subgroup, although it does not
constitute a separate business segment as defined by the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The Holding division is responsible for strategic Group development, the
functional management of the Container segment, the central management of resources and
processes, and the provision of services for the operating companies. It also includes the pro-
perties specific to HHLA’s port handling business and the Group’s floating crane operations.
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The Real Estate segment corresponds to the Real Estate subgroup. Its business activities

encompass sustainable district/project development, letting and the commercial and tech-
nical management of properties in the Port of Hamburg’s peripheral area. This also includes
the Speicherstadt historical warehouse district. The world’s largest traditional warehouse
quarter is a UNESCO World Heritage Site. In this central location, HHLA offers some
292,000 m? of commercial space. Other properties spanning approximately 53,000 m? are
managed by Fischmarkt Hamburg-Altona GmbH in the fish market area on the river Elbe’s
northern banks.

Legal framework

In its business operations, HHLA is subject to numerous German and foreign statutory provi-
sions and regulations such as public law, trade, customs, labour, capital market and compe-
tition regulations. Its pricing is determined by the market and is, as a matter of principle, not

regulated.

The regulatory environment for HHLA’'s commercial activities in and around the Port of
Hamburg is largely determined by the Hamburg Port Development Act (Hamburgisches Hafe-
nentwicklungsgesetz — HafenEG). HafenEG’s objectives are to maintain the Port of Hamburg’s
competitiveness as an international all-purpose port, to safeguard freight volumes and to use
the public infrastructure as efficiently as possible. To this end, the Port of Hamburg employs a
“landlord model”, under which the Hamburg Port Authority (HPA) owns the port areas and is
responsible for building, developing and maintaining the infrastructure, while the privately
owned port operators are responsible for the development and maintenance of the suprastruc-
ture (buildings and facilities). HHLA has concluded long-lease agreements with HPA for those
port areas of importance to its business operations. Lease agreements are largely based on
HPA’s general terms and conditions for port-related real estate.

For the construction, operation, expansion and alteration of its handling facilities, HHLA is
reliant on the issuance and continued existence of authorisations under public law, espe-
cially authorisations in accordance with the German Federal Emissions Control Act (Bundes-
immissionsschutzgesetz — BImSchG), the applicable local building regulations, water and
waterways laws, as well as any necessary planning permissions. HHLA’s affiliated compa-
nies are subject to a number of strict regulatory requirements. In particular, these include
regulations concerning the handling, storage and transport of environmentally harmful
substances and hazardous goods, as well as rules concerning technical safety, health and
safety in the workplace and environmental protection.

The security requirements at ports are mainly set out in the International Ship and Port
Facility Security Code (ISPS Code), which, in the area of the Port of Hamburg, is imple-
mented and specified by the German Port Security Act (Hafensicherheitsgesetz — HafenSG).
The operators of port facilities — and thus also HHLA — are required to observe strict access
control requirements and numerous other measures for averting danger.

HHLA ANNUAL REPORT 2023 32



To our stakeholders Management report Financial statements Further information

The regulatory environment for business activities in the Intermodal segment is largely deter-
mined by the EU directive establishing a single European railway area (Directive 2012/34/EU)
and the EU directive on railway safety (Directive 2016/798), together with the national execu-
tive orders and implementing legislation. In particular, these include regulations governing
the licensing of rail companies, the use of railway infrastructure and the associated fees as
well as rail operation, safety and maintenance. The main legislation in Germany is the
General Railways Act (Allgemeines Eisenbahngesetz — AEG), which sets out the require-
ments for rail operation, and the Railway Regulation Act (Eisenbahnregulierungsgesetz -
ERegG), which, in particular, regulates network access and route pricing. In addition, there
are further national, European and — especially for transnational rail transport — international
regulations.

The legal framework for HHLA is subject to constant change at national, European and inter-
national level in order to keep pace with technical progress and increased sensitivity with
regard to safety and environmental concerns, among other things, as well as to safeguard
human rights along the supply chain.

Market position

With its listed core business Port Logistics, HHLA competes with other companies on the
European market for sea freight services. By establishing locations for handling activities
both in the Mediterranean and Baltic regions, as well as continuously optimising and
expanding its intermodal network, HHLA has been able to leverage the growth potential of
its respective markets over recent years. In the 2023 financial year, however, the develop-
ment of the HHLA Group was burdened by the ongoing war in Ukraine, the military escala-
tion in the Middle East, rising geopolitical tensions, high inflation and interest rate hikes,
which dampened the economic recovery from the pandemic. Economic environment

In mid-September 2023, HHLA was informed by its majority shareholder, the Free and
Hanseatic City of Hamburg (FHH), that it had come to an understanding with the Mediter-
ranean Shipping Company (MSC) as part of an investor agreement about a strategic invest-
ment in HHLA AG. According to this agreement, the City of Hamburg and MSC intend to
manage and develop the company together in future. One central component of this part-
nership remains the neutrality of the HHLA business model. Significant events
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Container segment

Competitive factors

The competitive position of a terminal operator is determined by geographical location and
the hinterland links of a port as well as its accessibility from the sea. Local freight volume
in the direct catchment area of each port location also plays an important role. Other key
competitive factors that influence the market position include the reliability and speed of
ship handling as well as the scope and quality of services. Also of increasing importance
is the performance of pre- and onward-carriage rail systems between the port and its hinter-
land (for example, in terms of frequency, punctuality and pricing) and therefore the range of
integrated transport solutions.

Competition is extremely fierce in Northern Europe and ports are still being affected by
changing shipping company constellations, alliances and participations in terminals.
Business partners and clients

With regard to the potential transfer of container traffic, a distinction must be made here
between overseas traffic (i.e. ocean transport from distant regions, such as Asia or North
America, to Northern Europe) and feeder traffic, which redistributes cargo from the major
North Range seaports to the Baltic, for example. The shift resulting from new shipping
company constellations, alliances and participations in terminals towards more geographi-
cally flexible feeder traffic is having an impact on handling volumes. By contrast, handling
volumes of overseas traffic that are tied to the port’s natural catchment area are relocated
less frequently. Competition in maritime hinterland transport by rail or truck is becoming
more intensive, not least as a result of shipping companies entering the market through hori-
zontal business field strategies.

Competitive environment

The market for port services of significance to HHLA on the Northern European coast (the
North Range) is characterised by its high concentration of ports. Competition is particularly
strong between the four largest North Range ports of Rotterdam, Antwerp-Bruges, Hamburg
(HHLA’s main hub) and the Bremen ports. In September 2023, Eurogate and Terminal Invest-
ment Limited, a subsidiary of MSC, prolonged their joint venture agreement for MSC Gate
Bremerhaven until 2048.
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Container throughput at the North Range ports

Handling volumes and market shares 1-9 | 2023

North Sea 04mTEU|1.4 %

HAMBURG
5.8mTEU | 20.1 %

BREMEN PORTS
3.0mTEU|[10.5 %

10.2m TEU | 35.2 %
Germany

‘A‘NTWERP-BRUGES ( At the time of reporting, the 2023 throughput volumes were not
9.5m TEU|32.8 % yet available from all ports, so the first nine months of 2023 were
= s used for the market share calculation.

Belgium

Source: Port Authorities / market shares according to own calculation

As the most easterly North Sea port, the Port of Hamburg’s position makes it the ideal hub
for the entire Baltic region and for hinterland traffic to and from Central and Eastern Europe.
Furthermore, the long-standing trading relationships between the Port of Hamburg and the
Asian markets are advancing Hamburg’s role as a major European container hub. With
container throughput of 7.7 million TEU, Hamburg is expected to rank 21st among ports
worldwide in 2023, cementing its status as the third-largest European container port after
Rotterdam and Antwerp-Bruges. In the Port of Hamburg, HHLA is a direct competitor of
Eurogate, particularly with regard to overseas services: HHLA operates three container
terminals in Hamburg, while Eurogate operates one. With a throughput volume of

5.8 million TEU in the 2023 financial year, HHLA remained the largest container handling
company in the Port of Hamburg and was able to expand its market share there to 75.6 %
(previous year: 75.2 %). The major shipping regions were Asia, North America, Scandinavia
and the Baltic region.
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Container throughput at the

North Range ports

Further information

Container throughput by shipping region
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The Baltic Sea ports are served by high feeder traffic operating via central distribution
points in the North Range. Ports such as Gdansk and Gothenburg, however, are also used
by ocean-going vessels. Gdansk in particular experienced strong growth in the years up to
2022. Since 2022, however, container handling volumes have declined due to the war in
Ukraine and the general economic environment in Europe. Nevertheless, the Port of Gdansk
is a serious competitor within this network system. Despite the decrease in handling
volumes, the expansion of the port and the Baltic Hub terminal in particular will continue to
be pursued.

With HHLA TK Estonia, HHLA has been operating one of Estonia’s most important multi-
function terminals in the Port of Muuga near Tallinn since 2018. Due to the wide range of
services, including container handling and the processing of RoRo traffic, as well as general
cargo and bulk cargo, the terminal is very well positioned. Furthermore, the Port of Muuga is
part of the Trans-European Transport Network (TEN-T), which includes rail routes, inland
waterways, shorter seaborne routes and roads.

The Adriatic region with ports such as Koper and Trieste has also developed dynamically in
recent years. Having acquired a majority shareholding in the multi-function terminal
“Piattaforma Logistica Trieste” (PLT) in Trieste in 2021, HHLA has positioned itself in a
market that offers good opportunities for development, including the opportunity to actively
participate in and help shape new and changing cargo flows. The terminal has its own rail
connection. The Port of Trieste is also integrated into the European intermodal network of
HHLA's rail subsidiary METRANS. Since September 2023, a new container service has been
using the terminal that links the ports within the Mediterranean region.
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The Container Terminal Odessa (CTO) on the Black Sea is Ukraine’s largest container
terminal. It has been operated by the HHLA Group since 2001 and previously handled bulk
cargo, general cargo and project cargo in addition to containers. With the outbreak of the
war in Ukraine in February 2022, seaborne container handling at the CTO came to a stand-
still. All that was possible was the partial loading of grain ships to comply with international
agreements. In addition, alternative intermodal logistics routes were established in the
hinterland. Given the current geopolitical situation and the restricted business operations,
it remains difficult to assess the market environment.

Intermodal segment

Competitive factors

In addition to the density of the available network, key competitive factors for intermodal
transport — which is becoming increasingly significant in terms of the competition between
ports — include the frequency of departures, opportunities for freight pooling and storage in
the hinterland, the geographical distance to destinations, punctuality and infrastructural
capacity.

Competitive environment

With regard to container transport by train, the state railway companies compete with a
variety of private rail operators and intermodal transport firms, as well as with other carriers
such as trucks and barges or feeder ships. As rail infrastructure is mainly publicly owned,
various national authorities guard against discrimination in terms of both access and usage
fees.

HHLA operates proprietary inland terminals in Central and Eastern Europe along with its own
container wagons and traction fleet (locomotives), all of which are central to the company’s
service offering. This is necessary to enable HHLA to run direct trains with frequent and
highly punctual departures. HHLA occupies relevant market positions in the majority of the
regions it serves in the field of intermodal transport. HHLA has a sound market position in
the Hamburg Metropolitan Region in the delivery and collection of containers by truck.
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Intermodal network of HHLA
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Logistics segment

The Logistics segment serves various market sectors, some of which are highly specialised.
With its multi-function terminal Unikai, HHLA is the leading provider of specialist handling
services in Hamburg. Via Hansaport, HHLA has a stake in Germany’s biggest seaport
terminal for handling iron ore and coal. HHLA also provides fruit handling services for
Northern Europe through its Frucht- und Kihl-Zentrum. The portfolio also includes
consulting and management services for clients in the international port and transport
industry. New business activities in process automation, airborne logistics services and
digital services, particularly for the intermodal segment, complete the portfolio.

Real Estate segment

As a significant economic centre with a population of approximately 1.9 million, Hamburg is
one of the largest property markets in Germany for the non-listed Real Estate segment.
What makes its portfolio particularly attractive are its unique buildings and favourable loca-
tions in Hamburg’s Speicherstadt historical warehouse district and on the northern banks of
the river Elbe/fish market area. The company has built up a wealth of development and
implementation expertise dedicated to finding the right balance between market-based
tenant demands and careful handling of its landmarked buildings with world heritage status.
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These properties compete with German and international investors marketing high-quality

properties in comparable locations.
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Business partners and customers

In its relationships with business partners, HHLA strives for integrity, fairness, responsibility
and sustainability. To minimise the risks that may occur at the start of and during business

relationships, HHLA uses a Group-wide business partner screening system. The system

facilitates the recurring risk-based analysis and assessment of business relationships and

possible measures to reduce risks. Risk and opportunity management

Customer structure

The customer base in the Container segment
consists mainly of shipping companies, rail
companies and freight forwarders. Globally
operating container shipping companies
account for the largest share of revenue. In ship
handling, HHLA’s container terminals work
together with shipping companies on a generally
neutral basis (multi-user principle) and offer a
wide range of high-quality services. In the

Capacity breakdown by shipping line

alliance

Far East-Europe as of 31.12.2023

25 % 5%
THE Alliance || Others
(Hapag-Lloyd, ONE,
HMM, Yang Ming)

36 %

OCEAN Alliance
(CMA CGM, COSCO)

reporting year, HHLA’s customer base included

34%
all of the world’s top ten container shipping oM
companies. (MSC, APM-Maersk)
Investments in container terminals by ship- Source: Alphaliner Monthly Monitor, January 2024

ping companies are widespread in the industry

and standard practice. They aim to tie cargo

volumes to the port over the long term, to optimise terminal capacity and to strengthen
supply chains.

Shipping companies hold non-controlling interests in three HHLA terminals. The shipping
company Hapag-Lloyd holds a non-controlling interest of 25.1 % in HHLA Container
Terminal Altenwerder (CTA). On 19 June 2023, HHLA and COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited
(CSP) signed the contracts for a minority interest of 24.9 % in HHLA Container Terminal
Tollerort (CTT), following the conclusion of the investment appraisal process. And the
Grimaldi Group holds a 49 % stake in the multi-function terminal Unikai, which is attributed
to the Logistics segment.

HHLA’s majority shareholder, the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg (FHH), and the
Mediterranean Shipping Company (MSC) came to an understanding in September 2023 as
part of an investor agreement about a strategic investment in HHLA. According to this
agreement, the City of Hamburg intends to maintain a share of 50.1 % while MSC holds a
share of up to 49.9 %. As part of a preliminary agreement, a business combination agree-
ment will safeguard the neutrality of the business model and the equal treatment of the
HHLA Group’s customers. Significant events
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In the Container segment, the three major shipping line alliances OCEAN Alliance, 2M and
THE Alliance dominated the market as customers during the reporting year. The shipping
companies of the 2M Alliance, A.P. Moller-Maersk (APM-Maersk) and MSC announced in
January 2023 that they would not be extending their agreement and that the partnership
would end in 2025. The OCEAN Alliance contract runs until 2027, while the contractual part-
nership of THE Alliance runs until 2030. In January 2024, the two shipping companies
Hapag-Lloyd and APM-Maersk announced that they would be working together as the
“Gemini Cooperation” as of February 2025. Hapag-Lloyd will therefore be leaving THE
Alliance ahead of schedule in early 2025.

Shipping companies have a long history of joining forces to create alliances. HHLA is there-
fore also well equipped to handle this new development. The extent to which the latest
industry developments will affect HHLA remains to be seen.

The shipping company APM-Maersk acquired the Hamburg-Siid shipping company in 2017
and announced in June 2023 that the Hamburg-Siid brand was to be retired. This does not
affect the HHLA container terminals as all business activities already went through APM-
Maersk at this time. There have been no further mergers or acquisitions among the top ten
container shipping companies in the past few years.

Top 10 shipping companies by transport capacity

Shipping company Alliance thousand TEU
1. MSC 2M 5,614
2. APM-Maersk 2M 4,122
3. CMA CGM Group OCEAN Alliance 3,578
4. COSCO Group (incl. OOCL) OCEAN Alliance 3,057
5. Hapag-Lloyd THE Alliance 1,964
6. ONE THE Alliance 1,800
7. Evergreen Line OCEAN Alliance 1,645
8. HMM (Hyundai Merchant Marine) THE Alliance 784
9. Yang Ming THE Alliance 709
10. ZIM - 619

Source: Alphaliner Monthly Monitor, January 2024

During the reporting year, new ship orders were down on the previous year, both in terms of
the number of ships and the capacities ordered. Orders are distributed across all ship
classes. Ships with a capacity of over 18,000 TEU - primarily used on the Far East-northern
Europe routes so critical to Hamburg — currently account for 16 % of all container ship
orders. Twelve new ships are expected in 2024 with a further eleven ships of this size on the
shipyards’ books for 2025.

Shipping companies and forwarders are also the main customers of the Intermodal
segment. As one of the leading providers of intermodal services, HHLA’s rail subsidiary
METRANS assumes a neutral role in the intermodal market, which is characterised by an
established number of public and private providers.
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The services provided in the Logistics segment are aimed at various customer groups,
ranging from steel companies and power plants (in the field of bulk cargo handling) to inter-
national operators of ports and other logistics centres (in the field of port consulting).

The Real Estate segment lets its office space and commercial premises to German and
international clients from a variety of sectors: from logistics and trading companies to media,
consulting and advertising agencies, fashion labels, hotels and restaurants, and companies
in the creative sector.

Sales activities

As far as possible, all of HHLA'’s sales activities follow the strategic approach of vertical inte-
gration, i.e. offering comprehensive transport and logistics services from a single source.
This strategic approach is pursued by means of intensive, cross-segment dialogue between
the sales organisations, joint customer visits and by attending events in the hinterland of
seaports.

Sales activities in the Container segment are Revenue distribution by customer
organised by means of key account manage-

. , at the Hamburg container terminals 2023
ment. The revenue share attributable to HHLA's °

five most important customers at its Hamburg 4%

container terminals changed in the 2023 finan- Others

cial year to 75.2 % (previous year: 75.1 %). The 21% ‘
Top 6-10

revenue share attributable to the ten most
important customers at the Hamburg terminals
decreased slightly to 95.7 % (previous year: 75%

96.1 %). HHLA has maintained commercial rela- Top 1-5

tionships with the majority of its most important

customers for well over two decades. HHLA
concludes multi-year framework contracts with
its shipping customers that set out both the scope and the remuneration of services. As the
usage volume for these services is not fixed, there is no order backlog in the traditional
sense for the specific services provided by HHLA.

In the Intermodal and Logistics segments, sales activities are generally managed locally
by the individual companies. As a rule, no framework contracts are concluded regarding
transport services; instead, the current transport or service requirements are provided to
order.

The Real Estate segment’s sales team offers potential clients and tenants a wide range of
services for properties in its two main districts — Hamburg’s Speicherstadt historical ware-
house district and the northern banks of the river Elbe/fish market area — as well as for logis-
tics properties in the Port of Hamburg.
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Procurement and supplier management

Remit and strategic objectives

HHLA Group Procurement is firmly established as a strategic partner within the Group. It is
involved in procurement projects at an early stage, providing value-adding support.
Purchasing is a shared service provided by the Group's management holding company in
Hamburg and deals with procurement activities on behalf of most of its domestic majority
holdings. It also supports and advises Group companies as part of its holistic management
of product groups, suppliers and contracts so that the service and performance require-
ments of internal customers are met as fully as possible.

Pioneering solutions are developed for the Group in close partnership with Operations and
Engineering. In the process, HHLA draws on strategic and cooperative collaborations with
select business partners. The aim is to establish a consolidated supplier base characterised
by maximum added value, top quality and optimum life cycle costs. In addition to economic
aspects, great importance is attached to sustainable procurement, which begins with the
careful selection of suppliers. In the supplier qualification process, suppliers submit a self-
disclosure confirming that they fulfil the quality standards of HHLA in the fields of sustain-
ability, compliance, procurement and occupational health and safety.

Product groups and volumes

The procurement volume of the HHLA Group Procurement volumes
amounted to around € 332 million in 2023

. - L in the HHLA Group in 2023: € 332 million
(previous year: € 376 million) and was distributed P

among the above-mentioned groups. Given the 19% 59 %
high proportion of investment projects in the Construction Technical
products

2022 and 2023 financial years, the volume was

well above the average amount of the previous 229
(]

IT, indirect services
and materials

years.

The portfolio covers a wide spectrum, divided
into three main product groups: technical

purchasing, construction purchasing, informa-

tion technology (IT) and indirect purchasing.

Technical purchasing deals with the procurement of port handling equipment and energy
products and covers material procurement as well as the procurement of services needed to
service and maintain terminals and technical components. The construction department is
responsible for the product groups of construction above and below ground, railway
construction and facility management. In addition to project management services, these
areas also include planning and engineering services as well as maintenance and repair
services. The main items procured by the IT and indirect purchasing department include
software, hardware and telecommunication products, as well as services such as consul-
tancy, marketing and HR services. The department also handles the procurement of office
materials and personal protective equipment.
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Selection of suppliers and service providers

When selecting partners, great importance is attached to sustainability and compliance, as
well as financial stability, quality, reliability and innovative flair. HHLA requires its suppliers
and service providers to comply with its Supplier Code of Conduct, which covers aspects of
human rights, occupational health and safety, environmental protection and sustainability as
well as appropriate conduct in a business environment. Due to the requirements of the
German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act, the Supplier Code of Conduct has been supple-
mented in parts and can be found on the HHLA website. HHLA Supplier Code of Conduct [/}

In 2023, all suppliers were contacted and requested to confirm the current version. Prior to
the change, almost 80 % of the procurement volume was placed with suppliers who had
pledged to comply with the requirements, or with similar regulations. For the new version,
the proportion is currently 80 % of the procurement volume.

Overall, the procurement volume was divided between 1,936 active suppliers during the
reporting period. Around 25 % of the volume was placed with suppliers based directly in
Hamburg. Approximately 93 % of the procurement volume is attributable to business part-
ners in Germany, although it must be said that, particularly in the case of capital goods and
replacement parts in technical purchasing, as well as in IT services, the company often
cooperates with suppliers that have sites in Germany but belong to international groups. In
2023, half of the suppliers in technical purchasing with the highest procurement volumes
belong to international groups and account for 75 % of total volume. The supplier structure
is generally highly dependent on the requirements.

Sustainability standards are also becoming increasingly important — a fact also reflected by
the respective legislation. For example, the German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act came
into force in 2023. This act governs corporate responsibility for complying with human rights
requirements in global supply chains. In order to define and establish effective and appro-
priate processes, HHLA set up a project with the Sustainability, Purchasing and Compliance
departments in 2022. External consultants supported the project, which also included an
initial risk analysis. Potential risks were identified for a small number of suppliers and service
providers. As a result, defined risk mitigation and avoidance measures were — and continue
to be — implemented within the Group. In addition to the confirmation of the updated
Supplier Code of Conduct, this also includes verifying recognised risks and the Group-wide
launch and implementation of the concept.

An existing element of the supplier and risk management strategy is business partner
screening which, for example, makes it possible to regularly check entries in various sanc-
tions lists. Compliance with these criteria is monitored by an IT-based supplier manage-
ment system. This also facilitates a continual review of the degree of fulfiiment and the
supplier base.
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Operational and strategic areas of focus

In light of the challenging economic situation, demand management and cost manage-
ment were both major areas of focus in 2023, along with supplier management. Prompted
by volume trends, consumer spending and behaviour was carefully analysed and adapted
with the aim of adjusting service scope and agreements and ensuring detailed transparency
regarding payment obligations. Through close dialogue with the departments, demand was
optimised, alternative contract and financing models developed and liquidity-generating
measures adopted.

An ongoing challenge is the systematic development of digital processes to optimise the
effort devoted to regularly recurring activities and to provide operational and strategic
processes with the best possible support. The department is currently developing a digital
roadmap for this purpose. The foundation for this transformation process was laid with the
launch of the new catalogue system, which has been in operation since 2021 and for which
a release upgrade was initiated in 2023 in order to tap further optimisation potential. This
has enabled us to consistently increase the automation rate in operational procurement
processes over the past few years. In the reporting period, 64.5 % of all purchasing
processes were handled fully automatically (previous year: 61.2 %; 2021: 56.5 %). This helps
us to streamline processes and ensure compliance with process standards. Furthermore, we
laid the groundwork to further digitalise our contract and supplier management, also in the
areas of risk management and sustainability.

From a strategic perspective, the topics of supplier management and risk management
remain the dominant issues for purchasing. Against the backdrop of the German Supply
Chain Due Diligence Act and preparations for the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Direc-
tive and Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive, it will be essential to ensure
processes are consistent and well-structured for our top product groups and suppliers in
order to keep pace with the growing significance of sustainability and environmental respon-
sibility in the business environment. In this context, the ongoing centralisation of procure-
ment activities and the mapping of Group standards will remain a key topic for the depart-
ment.

Innovation

Changing expectations on the part of customers, employees and other stakeholder groups
mean that also companies with established business models must continually scrutinise,
develop and enhance their activities. In order to operate successfully over the long term in
the dynamic and often highly volatile logistics sector, HHLA aims to meet the various needs
of its customers and employees as effectively as possible through a process of continuous
improvement and development of its structures and processes.

In doing so, HHLA only engages to a very limited extent in research and development in the
narrower sense of the term. However, it consistently strives to develop its own innovative
logistics solutions while quickly adopting product innovations and application-oriented tech-
nologies that have been successfully proven on the market. The focus is on the constant
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monitoring of markets and technologies in order to identify promising developments at an
early stage. Due to close collaboration with technical universities, institutes, industry part-
ners and government authorities, as well as start-ups, (joint) projects can be planned,
managed and developed by working groups.

HHLA’s strategic objective in doing so is to make its core business “fit for the world of
tomorrow” and to tap new growth areas along the logistics chain. It focuses in particular on
opportunities arising through the automation and digitalisation of logistics processes.

Efficiency programme at the Hamburg container terminals

As part of its corporate strategy, HHLA is committed to a transformation process aimed at
strengthening the company’s future viability and creative power over the long term. In order
to implement this, HHLA launched a comprehensive efficiency programme at the container
terminals in Hamburg in 2021 that will last at least five years. This programme aims to make
it easier over the medium term to establish volume leadership and to optimise the capacity
utilisation of existing structures in the Port of Hamburg while improving the company’s price
position through cost synergies. Boosting efficiency and performance will strengthen HHLA’s
market and competitive position over the medium term and secure the future of this site and
employment over the long term. Operational efficiency, one of the key customer require-
ments, forms the basis for customer satisfaction and loyalty. It therefore plays a major role in
ensuring the lasting economic success of the company.

The focus is on the centralisation and digitalisation of planning, administration and manage-
ment tasks, the extensive automation of the terminals, and the strictly KPIl-based manage-
ment of service processes that are optimised on an end-to-end basis.

Adjustment of the organisational structure

A new organisational structure aims to make the end-to-end process-optimising manage-
ment of handling operations more rigorous in the future. The far-reaching, cross-terminal
standardisation of processes, terminals and systems while realigning management roles and
enhancing employee skills will create the basis for a faster-learning and permanently devel-
oping organisation.

Cross-terminal staff deployment planning at the Hamburg container terminals will form the
basis for enabling the increasing flexibility and planning security required for processing
vessels that are continually growing in size. New shift models are to be made digitally opera-
tional by means of a modern workforce management system.

Automation of facilities

The automation of facilities and process steps not only lowers handling costs but also
increases process reliability and occupational health and safety. Examples of this include
automation projects such as the introduction of automated guided vehicles (AGVs) at
Container Terminal Burchardkai (CTB) for the horizontal transportation of containers and
automatic truck handling for more efficient truck processing.
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By switching to the new yard crane system, we are not only able to make much more effi-
cient use of space, but also to boost the productivity of the container terminal. Furthermore,
electrified yard cranes are another investment in the sustainable future of HHLA because the
use of electricity from renewable sources reduces carbon emissions. The project was funded
by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).

Expansion of digitalisation for process optimisation

HHLA'’s digitalisation measures aim to pool process-relevant information and control vari-
ables and make them available on shared digital platforms in order to increase process
speed and performance, thus making an important contribution towards boosting competi-
tiveness. Furthermore, the digitalisation initiatives serve to create and simplify interfaces with
the company’s customers and facilitate the optimisation of handling quality.

Digitalisation measures are identified and implemented using participatory methods and
aligned with the Group’s value creation objectives. The core areas for digitalisation opportu-
nities are regularly analysed, with the potential added value quantified. This gives rise to the
priority with which measures are to be implemented.

Tapping new growth fields

The HHLA Next innovation unit established in 2021 aims to unite the expertise of the
Group with the agility of a start-up in order to promote innovative digital concepts while
actively shaping the transportation methods of the future. Its activities focus on generating
new growth fields, particularly in the areas of digital end-to-end logistics processes,
autonomous solutions, sustainable logistics, automated handling and intelligent and sustain-
able storage solutions.

The business models and products are developed by HHLA itself, in cooperation with part-
ners and through investments in companies in the maritime logistics environment. The inno-
vative products and business models already developed and established as independent
companies in this way include HHLA Sky, modility, heyport and passify. In addition, HHLA
Next invested in FERNRIDE GmbH in the 2023 financial year.

HHLA Sky: end-to-end drone system

HHLA Sky has developed a scalable, end-to-end drone system that allows the safe opera-
tion of drones beyond the visual line of sight (BVLOS). These industrial drones are extremely
robust, very light and equipped with safety technology. Customers can integrate the system
into their own business processes independently, or use it as a service operated by HHLA
Sky. Moreover, HHLA Sky has developed software and related information systems that can
be acquired for licensed use. Among other things, the control centre is used operationally for
drone flights to inspect container gantry cranes at HHLA terminals.

HHLA Sky significantly expanded its sales activities in the public sector in 2023. Monitoring
solutions with high demands on IT security are particularly important for this customer
segment. Furthermore, HHLA Sky was able to contribute its expertise to other funding
projects, such as Blu-Space, Genius and U-Turn. Important certification processes, such as
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ISO 9001, were successfully completed during the financial year. In 2023, HHLA Sky’s X4
drone received the German Design Award and the Red Dot Award in the elite “Best of the
Best” category.

modility: booking and placement portal for intermodal transport

modility is an online booking and placement portal for intermodal transport in Europe with a
focus so far on road and rail. The portal enables operators to market their transport capaci-
ties in a virtual marketplace for intermodal transport and offers freight forwarders a simple,
fast search process and direct transport bookings. In this way, modility aims to become the
central access point for intermodal transport and make it easier for companies to switch to
more climate-friendly intermodal transport. Since November 2022, the technical develop-
ment has been promoted by the Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital Infrastructure
(BMDV) as part of its “Future of rail freight transport” programme. During the 2023 financial
year, modility was named as a finalist in the 2023 German Logistics Awards by the
Bundesvereinigung Logistik (BLV).

heyport: digital scheduling platform for port calls

The open platform heyport — currently being spun off — brings together terminals, shipping
companies, agents and other players in the port environment for the purpose of digital
scheduling. With its one-stop-shop approach, heyport offers various integration options right
from the start to ensure that operating decision-makers always have all the latest scheduling
data to hand. Our own analyses, as well as IMO studies, show that just-in-time port calls
can cut greenhouse gas emissions between the ports by up to 14 %. Simple coordination of
berth availability via a scalable network significantly reduces the scheduling time required for
all parties. More than 2,000 ship calls at container, RoRo and bulk terminals have been coor-
dinated and scheduled via heyport so far.

passify: platform for the automation of handling processes

The passify platform — currently being spun off — enables truck drivers or operators of logis-
tics sites, such as container terminals, to fully automate their handling processes. A smart-
phone app enables truck drivers to verify their identity and check themselves in so they can
receive access authorisations and all the information they need for the handling process.
The platform enables the automated processing of truck arrivals, including advance
announcements, security checks and appointment scheduling. The application can be flex-
ibly integrated into various processes and systems within the terminal, processes real-time
information and thus facilitates proactive resource management, as well as the optimised,
flexible handling of trucks. In addition, passify offers extensive applications for the digital
management of logistics sites, such as access management and site security.
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FERNRIDE

FERNRIDE is developing a platform for autonomous electric trucks and solutions to inte-
grate them into existing logistics processes by gradually increasing autonomy via remote
operation. As autonomous trucks are a highly relevant topic for HHLA, HHLA Next decided
to acquire a stake in FERNRIDE. An increasing shortage of drivers coupled with European
efforts to decarbonise heavy goods transport as one of the main emitters of greenhouse
gases, along with the applicability of the technology at HHLA terminals were the main
factors behind this decision. The first pilot project was successfully completed at HHLA TK
Estonia in 2023.

Other development projects and funding projects

HHLA is also involved in various funding projects involving the development of innovative
technologies and logistics solutions. In addition to more efficient logistics chains and the
optimised networking of production and logistics, the innovations and new port technologies
aim to provide carbon-neutral logistics solutions.

Project overview: Container segment

Project Project goal Partner Funding
Artificial Intelligence Increase warehouse productivity based on Al-based
(Al) Initiative prediction of container pick-up time and outbound mode of
transport
Pin-Handling-mR Development of automated pin handling for container Fraunhofer- IHATEC'
(mobile robotics) wagons using mobile robotics Gesellschaft e.V.
PortSkill 4.0 Analysis and research of the competences and qualifications ma-co maritimes IHATEC'
needed for port work in the future in order to develop competenzcentrum
innovative learning concepts and environments as well as GmbH

new education and training offers

Project duration

in planning

10/2022 - 03/2025

12/2021 - 11/2025

1 Funding programme for Innovative Port Technologies (IHATEC), funded by the Federal Ministry of Digital Affairs and Transport (BMDV).

Project overview: Intermodal segment’

Projekt Project goal

Automation dispatch  Automation of truck and train handling at the terminals

Automation Cover Transshipment automation at the hinterland terminals as well as further Automation in the terminal, stowage and storage areas

Digital platforms Development of digital platforms to increase the effectiveness of traffic and optimisation of terminal operations

1 The projects are still in the start-up phase, so no information on funding, contractual partners or defined durations is currently available
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Project
AKIDU

HHLA Sky

Hafenplan ZEN

Rymax-One

Project goal

Automatic, Al-integrated scheduling for universal terminals to
digitalise manual processes for receiving, storing and loading
heterogeneous, non-standardised rolling goods

Research project on the autonomous use of drones in

Partner

HITeC e.V., akquinet
port
consulting GmbH

Hochschule

industrial and handling facilities, taking into account all safety Osnabriick

criteria and Al-supported control

Strategic port planning based on digital twins - the quality of
strategic port planning and the measures mapped therein is

to be increased through holistic simulations

Provision of use cases from the field of logistics in order to
integrate high-performance computing environments in the

University of
Hamburg

University of
Hamburg &

future and make them available to interested users via cloud Fraunhofer [TWM

access to an HPC quantum computer hybrid operation.

Funding
IHATEC'

Federal Ministry of
Finance

IHATEC'
Federal Ministry of

Education and
Research (BMBF)

Project duration
03/2022 -12/2024

01/2023 - 12/2023

11/2022 - 04/2025

12/2021 - 11/2026

1 Funding programme for Innovative Port Technologies (IHATEC), funded by the Federal Ministry of Digital Affairs and Transport (BMDV).

Project overview: Holding & Real Estate

Project

Climate neutrality in
listed buildings

TransHyDE
Sub-projects
"Mukran" on Riigen
and "Helgoland

Project goal

Research project on the generation, storage and use of

energy required for real estate operation

Development of an approach for the production, transport
and use of hydrogen; testing the possibilities for transporting
hydrogen in high-pressure containers as well as via the
carrier medium LOHC (Liquid Organic Hydrogen Carriers).

Partner

University of
Stuttgart, HafenCity
University Hamburg
(BIMLab), University
of Aachen

240 partners from
science and industry

Funding

Federal Ministry for
Economic Affairs and
Climate Protection
(BMWK)

Federal Ministry of
Education and
Research (BMBF)

Project duration
10/2021 -12/2024
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Strategy and management

Corporate and sustainability strategy

HHLA is a European port and logistics group. It connects port terminals with intermodal
hinterland networks to create climate-friendly logistics chains, thus firmly embedding
sustainability within its business model.

With its Balanced Logistics sustainability strategy, HHLA is highlighting its commitment to
reconciling ecological, social and economic responsibility. As a result, it is paving the way for
sustainable growth of its enterprise value.

Transformation process

The further development of the logistics sector represents a key value for HHLA. Since 2017,
efficient cost structures, an ambitious sustainability and technology strategy and the tapping
of new growth drivers beyond the company’s existing core business have been the corner-
stones for securing and expanding HHLA’s enterprise value.

HHLA draws on its creative power to focus on the development of additional values. In this
way, it aims to strengthen customer loyalty and its customer base. The four main guiding
principles of corporate development which help us achieve these aims remain:

LI Fit for the world of tomorrow @ Investments and finance
Our core business is being strengthened to be The company will continue to gear its investments
able to enter the world of tomorrow sustainably and operating results towards sustainable, profitable
and profitably. A corresponding programme for the growth. HHLA applies a value-oriented approach
future is being implemented. This programme aims to its strategic investments. The most important
to enhance competitiveness, quality and profitability. investment criteria are the growth prospects and

anticipated return on capital of the investment projects.

TE[_: Exploiting additional growth areas fzéé% Organisation and corporate culture
HHLA is tapping growth potential along the transport The company's organisational structure and corporate
streams of the future, along the logistics value chain culture are being aligned with tomorrow’s world.
and in new, digital business models. The client is being placed more than ever at the

centre of activity.
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At the same time, HHLA’'s market environment is changing at an ever-greater pace. HHLA
aims to harness this change quickly and successfully, with determination and focus. With
this in mind, HHLA is fine-tuning its creative ambitions:

= We help to shape changes in the logistics sector.
= We invest in sustainable and innovative technologies in order to increase our enterprise value.

= We pursue targeted diversification along the logistics chain in order to offset significant changes in
our core business, supplement our product portfolio and drive growth.

Strengthening the container terminals at the Port of Hamburg is a key pillar of our strategy to
safeguard the HHLA Group’s value. This goes hand in hand with the targeted expansion of
our highly profitable intermodal business.

The Executive Board of HHLA will continue the ongoing transformation process.

Expansion and consolidation of market position

In the listed Port Logistics subgroup, activities to cement and expand the current market
position are governed by the following guidelines:

In the Container segment, HHLA aims to be an efficient, highly automated and high-perfor-
mance port service provider with a strong hinterland network and cutting-edge, digital
customer solutions. In order to achieve this, the design and operation of HHLA’s container
terminals are systematically geared to maximum productivity of space and manpower effi-
ciency. At the same time, innovative technologies and processes are used to achieve contin-
uous improvements in quality standards. In doing so, the terminals are being developed into
efficient interfaces within a sustainable and emission-free transport chain.

In the Intermodal segment, HHLA strives to be a quality and efficiency leader and aims to
leverage this leading position in order to profit from the transport flows of the future.
METRANS will play an important role along the hubs and connecting lines of the logistics
network, both in Europe and beyond. Due to efficient networking between the Intermodal
segment and the other activities of the HHLA Group, HHLA is able to offer its customers a
perfectly coordinated range of services characterised by efficient intermodal transport from
its seaport terminals to transshipment in the European hinterland and vice versa. Further-
more, HHLA offers its customers continental transport between European destinations. By
further expanding its European network, gaining market shares in Europe and offering
climate-friendly services, HHLA is pursuing the goal of increasing both the scope of its
services and reach for its customers. In addition, HHLA focuses on increasing its vertical
integration.

In its Logistics segment, HHLA pools a wide range of port-related services. HHLA also
markets its expertise in infrastructure and project development internationally. In addition,
new and innovative business activities along the material and digital logistics value chain are
being pursued and promoted. In response to rapid developments in the global transport and
logistics sector, HHLA Next GmbH was founded in 2021 to serve as HHLA’s central innova-
tion unit and to pool its innovative and sustainable business activities. Innovation
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In addition to purely organic growth, HHLA constantly explores opportunities for further
acquisitions with a view to opening up new growth areas along the logistics value chain.

In its non-listed Real Estate subgroup, HHLA pursues the objective of developing into an
integrated, market-viable developer of specialist properties. The corporate unit HHLA Real
Estate aims to be Hamburg’s flagship provider of intelligent district management and devel-
opment on the basis of this clear strategic alignment and reliable prioritisation. As such,
HHLA is becoming a much sought-after specialist in its clearly defined areas of expertise.

The HHLA service network

HHLA connects its customers with maritime and continental transport flows
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Sustainability as an integral part of the corporate strategy

In addition to the continued development of our core business and the development of new
growth fields, sustainability is an integral component of HHLA’s business model.

HHLA has therefore developed a sustainability strategy with nine areas for action under the
heading “Balanced Logistics”. These nine areas for action cover all aspects of sustainability
and their practical application for HHLA. Responsible corporate governance forms the basis
for implementing the strategy — the main focus of which is on climate-friendly logistics
chains, land optimisation, climate protection and energy efficiency.
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With its activities in these nine areas for action, HHLA is helping to support the 17 Sustain-

able Development Goals of the United Nations. These 17 goals were formulated by the UN

to foster sustainable global development and shape economic development so that it takes

account of social justice and the earth’s environmental conditions. As part of its sustain-

ability strategy, HHLA supports all the goals, of which high-quality education (SDG 4), afford-

able and clean energy (SDG 7), decent work and economic growth (SDG 8), industry, innova-

tion and infrastructure (SDG 9) and climate protection measures (SDG 13) correspond in

particular to HHLA's activities.

Balanced Logistics sustainability strategy

Field of activity

Ecology:
Climate-friendly
logistic chains

Ecology:
Area optimisation

Ecology:

Climate protection and

energy efficiency

Ecology:
Environmental and
resource protection

Society:
Working world

Society:
Occupational health
and safety

Society:
social engagement

Economy:
Added value and
innovation

Economy:
Business partner

Governance

Guidelines Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

We create climate- and environmentally friendly logistics chains. f 13}
We use the port and logistics chains as efficiently as possible.
We reduce our CO, emissions through energy efficiency and innovation.

We reduce our environmental impact and conserve natural resources. () et o

L 2

We invest in vocational education and training with tailored staff development L 10 Sines

programmes. I!!” p = >
=
v

We ensure safe and fair working conditions and promote health-conscious behaviour.

We engage in dialogue with society to discuss and provide information on topics G
related to port logistics.

We make an ongoing and significant contribution to added value and thus raise
prosperity at all locations.

8 'DEGENT WORK AND 17 PARTNERSHIPS
ECONOMIC GROWTH ANDINFRASTRUCTURE FORTHEGOALS

We offer tailor-made solutions and work responsibly with our suppliers. ) it FEENTEN] {7 Paersies

ECONOMIC GROWTH ANDSTRONG FORTHEGOALS

M INSTHUW!S

A company can only achieve sustainable success if it behaves in a responsible and legally compliant manner. Compliance, data
privacy, respecting human rights, and combating corruption and bribery are seen as the fundamental requirements for sustainable

corporate governance. Business ethics and integrity
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Corporate and value management

HHLA's primary financial objectives include the long-term, sustainable growth of its enterprise
value. HHLA uses a Group-wide value management system to plan, manage and monitor its
commercial activities. No changes were made to this system in the 2023 financial year.

Financial performance indicators

The key operational management parameters used by the HHLA Group are the operating
result (EBIT) and the average operating assets (capital employed). EBIT and capital expendi-
ture as key drivers of the average capital employed are the main intra-year and short-term
performance indicators. Return on capital employed (ROCE) is calculated for the measure-
ment of long-term, value-oriented performance and is also used to determine the annual
value added. The HHLA Group calculates ROCE as a ratio of EBIT and the average oper-
ating assets used.

Commercial activities are generally regarded as Value management

value-generating if ROCE exceeds the cost of

. - . . . ROCE - defining parameters and influential factors
capital and a positive value contribution is made. 9P

Such capital costs correspond to the weighted
Return on capital employed (ROCE)

average of equity costs and the cost of

borrowed capital. As in the previous year, HHLA

used a weighted average cost of capital of Operating result (EBIT) Average operating assets

8.5 % p.a. before tax to calculate the growth in - +

value at Group level in the 2023 financial year. Operating Operating Average net non- Average net
income expenses current assets current assets

This minimum interest rate reflects the Executive

Board’s target of a medium- to long-term rate of

return arising from a balanced relationship

between equity and borrowed capital. This approach avoids short-term fluctuations in
interest rates on the capital markets that may distort the information provided by the value
management system.

Despite a weaker economic environment and the burden of high inflation and increased
interest rates, the HHLA Group achieved a positive EBIT result of € 109.4 million (previous
year: € 220.4 million) in the 2023 financial year. The year-on-year decrease in EBIT amounted
to 50.4 %. Earnings position

Average operating assets rose by 4.0 % to € 2,361.2 million in the reporting period (previous
year: € 2,271.1 million). Financial position

At 4.6 % (previous year: 9.7 %), return on capital employed failed to reach the targeted long-
term rate of return of 8.5 %. This resulted in a negative value contribution of € 91.3 million in
the 2023 financial year (previous year: € +27.4 million).
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in € million

Operating income
Operating expenses
EBIT

@ Net non-current assets
@ Net current assets

@ Operating assets
ROCE in %

Capital costs before tax' in %
Capital costs before tax
Value added in %

Value added

2023
1,527.5
-1,418.1
109.4
2,254.1
107.1
2,361.2
4.6

8.5
200.7
-39
-91.3

2022 Change
1,634.2 -6.5%
-1,413.8 0.3 %
220.4 -50.4 %
2,149.7 49 %
121.4 -11.7 %
2,271.1 4.0 %
9.7 -5.1pp

8.5 0.0 pp
193.0 4.0 %
1.2 -5.1pp
27.4 neg.

1 of which 5.0 % for the Real Estate subgroup

Non-financial performance indicators

The main non-financial performance indicators are container throughput and container trans-

port volumes. In addition to the regular dialogue that HHLA maintains with its customers, the

company makes extensive use of macroeconomic forecasts as early indicators for volume

trends and its operating activities. These include the anticipated development of gross

domestic product for important trading partners and subsequent estimates for foreign trade

and import/export flows, as well as for container traffic on relevant routes and changes in the

correlation between gross domestic product and containerised trading volumes.

Other non-financial performance indicators such as the number of employees, rail-bound

container transport volume and absolute CO.e emissions are recorded and evaluated on a

monthly or annual basis by the internal management information system. The sustainable

performance indicators are derived from HHLA's corporate and sustainability strategy.

Sustainable performance indicators

Field of activity Key figure

Climate-friendly logistics Container transport (in TEU)

chains Hinterland transport plays a central role in the
climate-friendly design of logistics chains.
Increasing the volumes transported makes a
significant contribution to this.

Climate-friendly logistic chains
Intermodal segment

Climate protection and  Absolute CO,e emissions’
energy efficiency Emissions

Working world Employees (headcount)
Headcount and personnel structure

Goal

Increase in rail-bound
transport volume to
2 million TEU by 2030

Emissionen

Safeguarding the
number of employees
across the Group

Measure

Expansion of intermodal activities

In order to reduce CO, emissions, HHLA has been
focusing on electrification and the use of
electricity from renewable energies for years.
Energy-efficient processes and technologies are
an integral part of the measures taken.

Expansion and targeted development of growth
opportunities in the intermodal business,
development of growth potential in new digital
business models

1 In the 2022 reporting year, the calculation was changed to CO, equivalents (COze), so that in addition to the climate impact of pure CO, emissions, the climate
impact of other climate impact of other greenhouse gases (such as N2O) is also taken into account in the calculation.
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Economic report

Economic environment

Macroeconomic development

Development of gross domestic product (GDP)

in % 2023
World 3.1
Advanced economies 1.6
USA 2.5
Eurozone 0.5

Germany -0.3

Italy 0.7
Emerging economies (newly industrialising and developing countries) 4.1
Emerging Asian economies 5.4

China 5.2
Central and Eastern Europe (emerging European economies) 2.7

Russia 3.0
Latin America and the Caribbean 2.5
World trade 0.4

2022
3.5
2.6
1.9
3.4
1.8
3.7
4.1
4.5
3.0
1.2

-1.2
4.2
5.2

Source: International Monetary Fund (IMF); January 2024

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the global economy performed better
in the 2023 financial year than anticipated at the start of the year. The IMF estimates that the
global economy as a whole grew by 3.1 % in the 2023 financial year. The marked slowdown
in global economic activity that was feared in many quarters due to high inflation rates in
2022 and the resulting sharp response of monetary policy failed to materialise. Instead, infla-
tion fell more rapidly than initially assumed. As a result, economic growth in the second half
of 2023 - particularly in the United States and several major emerging and developing
nations — was stronger than expected, according to the IMF. However, this growing
momentum was not felt everywhere, and growth remained low from a long-term perspective.
Despite the resolution of supply chain problems from the time of the pandemic and faster
delivery times, world trade remained flat throughout the year and was down significantly on
the previous year at 0.4 %..

Several advanced economies proved to be surprisingly resilient. Total economic output
rose by 1.6 % in 2023. The US economy recorded unexpectedly robust growth of 2.5 %
despite still being held back by high interest rates. Growth in the eurozone was hampered
by weak consumer sentiment, the ongoing impact of the economic crisis and a sluggish
economy. In its most recent assessment, the IMF estimates that gross domestic product
(GDP) in the eurozone grew only marginally by 0.5 % in 2023. As an export nation, Germany
suffered from weak global demand, high inflation — especially with regard to energy costs -
and the restrictive monetary policy. This was compounded by a crisis in the construction
industry due to a wave of cancellations in residential developments. In addition, the German
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economy was afflicted by a series of non-recurring factors. These included a high sickness
rate and the strikes of national rail operator Deutsche Bahn. In light of the shrinking
economy in the final quarter, the IMF anticipates that the economic output of Europe’s
largest economy declined by 0.3 % for the year as a whole. Italy is also expected to have
suffered a decrease in GDP to 0.7 %.

By contrast, the emerging economies performed well on the whole, despite the challenging
conditions. Here too, significant differences were observed in terms of momentum.
According to IMF estimates, overall economic growth reached 4.1 % in 2023. China’s
export-driven economy suffered from weak global demand, the crisis in the property market
and a weak domestic market, but experienced a surprising resurgence towards the end of
the year. According to the IMF’s economists, the world’s second largest economy grew by
5.2 % in 2023 and thus even reached the Chinese government’s growth target of “around
five percent”. From a long-term perspective, however, this represents one of China’s
weakest growth rates.

Following the decline in economic activity due to its invasion of Ukraine and the subsequent
sanctions imposed by the West, the Russian economy appears to have continued its
recovery. Increases in output and earnings are mainly attributable to government contracts,
not least for armaments, and increased transfer payments, while export volumes have
declined strongly. According to IMF estimates, Russia’s GDP grew by 3.0 % in 2023.
Following the economic slump in 2022 as a consequence of the Russian invasion, the IMF
also expects Ukraine to return to slight economic growth of 2.0 % in 2023. By contrast, the
IMF’s experts estimate that the Estonian economy will shrink by 2.3 % (IMF, October 2023).

Sector development

Development of container throughput by region

in % 2023 2022
World 0.0 0.6
Asia as a whole 2.1 1.8
China 2.5 3.9
Europe as a whole -3.3 -35
North-West Europe -7.4 -4.8
Scandinavia and the Baltic region -4.2 -7.9
Western Mediterranean -4.6 -1.2
Eastern Mediterranean and the Black Sea 5.4 -1.6

Source: Drewry Maritime Research; December 2023

Following a decline in the first half of 2023, global container throughput was noticeably
resurgent in the third quarter — usually the strongest period — and surpassed expectations.
According to the latest Drewry estimates, higher growth rates are also expected for the
fourth quarter — although it should be noted that this growth is relative to the low prior-year
figure. In December 2023, the market research institute anticipated stagnant throughput
volumes for the year as a whole, whereas it had previously expected a slight decline.
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However, this upward momentum did not manifest itself in all shipping regions. In Asia, the
world’s highest-throughput region, growth is expected to reach 2.1 % in 2023. In China,
growth at container ports slowed compared to 2022. The latest estimates indicate that
container volumes rose by 2.5 % in 2023.

By contrast, the Europe shipping region suffered a sharp drop in throughput. According to
Drewry estimates, container volumes at European ports decreased by 3.3 % overall in 2023,
with ports in north-western Europe affected most volume losses of 7.4 %.

Container throughput in the leading ports of Northern Europe

in million TEU 2023 2022 Change
Rotterdam 13.4 14,5 -7.0%
Antwerp 12.5 13.5 -72%
Hamburg 7.7 8.2 -6.9%
Bremische Hafen - 4.6 -
Source: Port Authorities

The trend among the major container ports of the North Range, as well as the largest

ports of the Baltic Sea, was mixed. Europe’s largest container port, Rotterdam, handled

13.4 million TEU in 2023 - 7.0 % fewer containers than in the previous year. Container

throughput in the port of Antwerp-Bruges fell by 7.2 % to 12.5 million TEU in the reporting

period. In the Port of Hamburg, throughput volume was 6.9 % down on the previous year at

7.7 million TEU in 2023. The year-on-year decline in throughput at the JadeWeserPort in
Wilhelmshaven was as much as 22.2 % to 531 thousand TEU in 2023.

At the time of preparing this report, throughput figures for the Bremen ports were not yet

available for 2023 as a whole — in the first eleven months, however, there was a decline in

throughput of 9.6 % to € 3.8 million.

The Polish port of Gdansk recorded a slight year-on-year decrease in handling volumes of

1.0 % to 2.1 million TEU in total. Following the sharp decline in 2022 as a result of Russia’s

invasion of Ukraine and the resulting sanctions, container throughput at Russia's Baltic Sea

ports returned to growth with an increase of 12.9 %.

Traffic in Germany by modes of transport

in % 2023 2022
Transport volumes -5.9 -1.1
Road traffic -6.0 -1.2
Railway traffic -4.5 0.4
Multi-modal traffic -6.2 2.1
Traffic performance -43 -0.5
Road traffic -4.2 -0.5
Railway traffic -4.6 1.2
Multi-modal traffic =55 3.0
Source: Floating medium-term forecast for freight and passenger transport (Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital Infrastructure);

September 2023
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The study for freight and passenger transport commissioned by the Federal Ministry of
Digital Affairs and Transport was last published on the basis of data from September 2023
and reflects the outlook for 2023 as a whole. The study forecasts a sharp downward trend
across all modes of freight traffic in Germany in 2023. Transport volumes are expected to
decrease by 5.9 % year-on-year, while traffic performance - transport volume multiplied by
the distance travelled — will decline by 4.3 %. This falling demand affects all modes of trans-
port. Road transport volumes are likely to be down by 6.0 % year-on-year. According to
the study, traffic performance is poised to decrease less dramatically with a year-on-year
decline of 4.2 %. Rail transport looks set to decline by 4.5 % after a slight increase in the
previous year. Traffic performance will decline by 4.6 %. A significant decline in growth is
also expected for intermodal transport. Volumes are likely to be 6.2 % up and performance
5.5 % down on the previous year.

Overall view of the course of business

The development of the HHLA Group in the 2023 financial year fell short of expectations.
The ongoing war in Ukraine, the military escalation in the Middle East, rising geopolitical
tensions, high inflation and interest rate hikes impacted the economy and continued to
impede the recovery from the pandemic. This economic weakness is clearly reflected in the
Group’s earnings.

As of the balance sheet date, 31 December 2023, HHLA’s economic and financial position
proved to be stable. The equity ratio decreased by 4.7 percentage points to 26.8 %
(previous year: 31.5 %). The gearing ratio rose from 3.4 to 5.5. There were no further refi-
nancing needs as of the balance sheet date.

During the reporting period, there were no changes in HHLA's operating environment that
had a significant impact on its results of operations, net assets and financial position. Signifi-
cant events and transactions are reported in the section Notes on the Reporting.

Key figures

in € million 2023 2022 Change
Revenue 1,446.8 1,578.4 -83%
EBITDA 287.8 396.3 -274 %
EBITDA margin in % 19.9 251 -52pp
EBIT 109.4 220.4 -50.4 %
EBIT margin in % 7.6 14.0 -6.4pp
Profit after tax and minority interests 20.0 92.7 -785%
At-equity earnings 4.9 4.9 0.8 %
ROCE in % 4.6 9.7 -5.1 pp
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The guidance for 2023 published in the 2022 Annual Report was subject to a high degree of

uncertainty due to the uncertainty of future average revenues and macroeconomic develop-

ments. With the publication of the interim statement for January to March 2023, this guid-

ance was partially adjusted due to the divergent development at segment level: expected

container throughput was downgraded and revenue at Group level and for the Port Logistics

subgroup upgraded. Based on the preliminary figures for the year available after the first half

of the year, full-year guidance for 2023 was once again significantly adjusted in an ad hoc

statement on 27 July 2023. In light of the sharply downward volume trend due to the macro-

economic development, expectations for performance data, container handling and

container transport were lowered. Moreover, guidance for the development of revenue and

EBIT at Group level and for the Port Logistics subgroup was downgraded. With the publica-

tion of the interim statement for January to September 2023, the outlook for container trans-

port and the EBIT contribution of the Intermodal segment was downgraded. At the same

time, anticipated capital expenditure at Group level and for the Port Logistics subgroup was

raised due to catch-up investments from the previous year.

Forecast and actual figures

Actual
in € million 2023
Container throughput in
thousand TEU 5,917
Container transport in thousand TEU 1,602
Group revenue 1,446.8
Port Logistics subgroup 1,408.9
Container segment 708.8
Intermodal segment 620.5
Real Estate subgroup 46.5
Group EBIT 109.4
Port Logistics subgroup 92.9
Container segment 47.2
Intermodal segment 72.9
Real Estate subgroup 16.1
Group investments 314.0
Port Logistics subgroup 292.8

Actual Change

2022

6,396

1,694

1,578.4

1,542.3
864.2
595.4

441

220.4

201.6
157.3
95.3
18.4

203.1

180.4

in %

-7.5

-5.4

-8.3

-8.6
-18.0
4.2

5.3

-50.4

-53.9
-70.0
-23.6
-125

54.6

62.3

Forecast
14.11.2023

significant decrease

moderate decrease

significant decrease

significant decrease
strong decrease
significant increase

at previous year's
level

€115to
€ 135 million

€100 to
€ 120 million

strong decrease
moderate decrease
significant decrease

€270 to
€ 320 million

€240to
€ 290 million

Forecast
27.07.2023

significant decrease

at previous year's
level

significant decrease

significant decrease
strong decrease
significant increase

at previous year's
level

€115to
€ 135 million

€100 to
€ 120 million

strong decrease
slight decrease
significant decrease

€250 to
€ 300 million

€220to
€ 270 million

Forecast
15.05.2023

slight increase

moderate increase

slight increase

slight increase
moderate decrease
strong increase

at previous year's
level

€160 to
€ 190 million

€145+to0
€ 175 million

strong decrease
moderate increase
significant decrease

€250 to
€ 300 million

€220 to
€ 270 million

Forecast
23.03.2023

moderate increase

moderate increase

at previous year's
level

at previous year's
level

slight decrease
significant increase

at previous year's
level

€160 to
€ 190 million

€145+to0
€ 175 million

strong decrease
moderate increase
significant decrease

€250 to
€ 300 million

€220to
€ 270 million
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Notes on the reporting

As of 31 March 2023, HHLA’s group of consolidated companies was expanded to include
Survey Compass GmbH, Treben, Germany, which was acquired on 17 January 2023 and has
been assigned to the Logistics segment, and Adria Rail d.o.o., Rijeka, Croatia, which was
acquired on 2 March 2023 and has been assigned to the Intermodal segment. For more infor-
mation, please refer to Acquisitions, disposals and other changes to the consolidated group.

On 19 June 2023, HHLA AG and Grand Dragon Investment Enterprise Limited, Hong Kong,
China, a subsidiary of COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited, Hong Kong, China (CSP), signed a
share purchase agreement for a non-controlling interest of 24.99 % in HHLA Container
Terminal Tollerort GmbH, Hamburg (CTT), a formerly wholly-owned subsidiary of HHLA AG.
The date of the sale was 20 June 2023. For more information, please refer to Acquisitions,
disposals and other changes to the consolidated group.

HHLA PLT Iltaly S.r.l., Trieste, Italy (PLT) had the option of expanding its existing infrastruc-
ture by 17 June 2023. In conjunction with this, HHLA had an opportunity to successively
increase its interest by acquiring the shares of former shareholders at a set purchase price in
connection with further capital increases. The Supervisory Board of HHLA AG agreed to the
exercise of this option on 21 March 2023. No binding notification of the exercise of this
option was made by the end of the option period. In addition to the aforementioned agree-
ment to acquire further shares in PLT from former shareholders, PLT signed a share
purchase and transfer agreement to acquire shares in Logistica Giuliana S.r.l., Trieste, Italy
(LG) on 31 July 2023. The company was consolidated for the first time on the acquisition
date of these shares, 14 December 2023. With this transaction, the interest held by HHLA
International GmbH, Hamburg (HIG), in PLT increased from 50.01 to 75.00 %. LG has been
assigned to the Container segment and was included in HHLA's consolidated group for the
first time on 31 December 2023. For more information, please refer to Acquisitions,
disposals and other changes to the consolidated group. Due to further options, HHLA has

the opportunity to increase its interest by acquiring the remaining shares of the former share-
holders.

On 13 September 2023, Port of Hamburg Beteiligungsgesellschaft SE (the “bidder”), a
wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of MSC Mediterranean Shipping Company S.A., Switzer-
land (MSC), notified HHLA of its decision to submit a voluntary public takeover bid in relation
to the class A shares. A total of 69.3 % of the class A shares (equal to 50,215,336 class A
shares) were held at the time by HGV Hamburger Gesellschaft fiir Vermdgens- und Beteili-
gungsmanagement mbH (HGV) and 30.7 % (equal to 22,299,602 class A shares) were in free
float. The takeover bid was made in the form of a cash offer against payment of a considera-
tion of € 16.75 in cash per class A share to the shareholders of HHLA. Furthermore, the
bidder stated that in connection with the takeover offer, MSC and the Free and Hanseatic
City of Hamburg (FHH) had entered into a binding agreement on 13 September 2023, which
sets forth the basic parameters and terms of the takeover offer as well as the mutual inten-
tions and understandings of the parties with respect to the company.

In addition, a binding preliminary contract for a Business Combination Agreement was
concluded on 5 November 2023 between HHLA, the bidder and its sole shareholder at the
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time, SAS Shipping Agencies Services Sarl (“SAS”), as well as HGV, that sets out the
common understanding of the key points regarding the long-term preservation of HHLA and
its business model and contains key commitments vis-a-vis HHLA.

In a joint reasoned statement as per Section 27 of the German Securities and Takeover Act
(WpUG) on the takeover bid, dated 6 November 2023, the Executive Board and Supervisory
Board of HHLA recommended that the shareholders accept the bid.

On 12 December 2023, it was published that, by the end of the extended acceptance period
on 7 December 2023, the bidder had been tendered 9.7 % of the class A shares in free float.
As of 31 December 2023, the bidder also held shares acquired on the market amounting to
12.4 % of HHLA's share capital.

Due to the high level of flexibility required in the sector, handling and transport services are
not generally ordered or guaranteed months in advance. Consequently, order backlogs and
order trends do not serve as reporting indicators as they do in other industries.

The 2023 consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable in the European Union, taking into
consideration the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC). The Group management report was prepared in line with the require-
ments of German Accounting Standard no. 20 (GAS 20).

Earnings position

HHLA’s performance data trended downwards in 2023. There was a 7.5 % year-on-year
decline in container throughput to 5,917 thousand TEU (previous year: 6,396 thousand TEU).
At the three Hamburg terminals, the decline amounted to 6.3 %. This was mainly attributable
to declining volumes in the Far East shipping region, particularly China, as well as a strong
year-on-year decrease in feeder traffic. Due to the suspension of seaborne handling at the
Odessa terminal in late February 2022 following the Russian invasion, there was a sharp
decline in volumes at the international terminals. Transport volumes were also down year-on-
year by 5.4 % to 1,602 thousand TEU (previous year: 1,694 thousand TEU). In addition, there
was a strong year-on-year decline in road transport. All main routes were affected by the
moderate decrease in rail transport, in particular Polish traffic.

HHLA Group revenue also fell by 8.3 % during Revenue

the reporting period to € 1,446.8 million
(previous year: € 1,578.4 million). In addition to in € million

the decline in container throughput volumes, this 1,578

1383 1,465
was due to lower storage fees at the Hamburg 1,300

container terminals, which had benefitted from
supply chain disruptions in the previous year.
The listed Port Logistics subgroup developed

1,447

almost exactly in line with the HHLA Group as a

: . 2019 2020 2021 2022
whole. Its Container, Intermodal and Logistics

2023

segments recorded an overall decrease in
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revenue of 8.6 % to € 1,408.9 million (previous year: € 1,542.3 million). Revenue in the non-
listed Real Estate subgroup increased by 5.3 % to € 46.5 million (previous year:
€ 44.1 million). The Real Estate subgroup thus accounted for 2.6 % of Group revenue.

In the reporting period, changes in inventories amounted to € 0.5 million
(previous year: € 3.3 million). Own work capitalised increased to € 6.6 million (previous
year: € 6.1 million).

Other operating income increased by 58.7 % to € 73.6 million (previous year:
€ 46.4 million). Among other things, this item includes income from the sale of a commercial
property.

Operating expenses increased slightly by Expense structure
0.3 % to € 1,418.1 million (previous year:

- . I ti in 2023: € 1,418 milli
€ 1,413.8 million). This was due to the significant Operating expenses in 2023: € 8 million

increase in other operating expenses. A slight 129%
decline in personnel expenses was offset by a Depreciation/
. L . - amortisation
slight rise in depreciation and amortisation.
14 % 34 %
The cost of materials rose marginally year-on- Other operating Cost of materials
year by 0.1 % to € 485.1 million (previous year: expenses
€ 484.6 million). The strong rise in the cost-of- 39 %
materials ratio to 33.5 % (previous year: 30.7 %) Personnel expenses

was due in part to increased electricity expenses

for rail transport.

Personnel expenses fell by 2.4 % to

€ 556.7 million (previous year: € 570.5 million). This was the result of reduced staffing
requirements due to lower container throughput and a partial reversal of the restructuring
provision in the Container segment. The personnel expense ratio rose to 38.5 % (previous
year: 36.1 %). In addition to increased union wage rates, this was due in particular to the
expansion of business in rail transport.

Other operating expenses increased by 8.3 % during the reporting year to € 197.9 million
(previous year: € 182.8 million). This was attributable to an increase in consulting expenses
and higher maintenance costs for a Hamburg container terminal and the properties in the
Speicherstadt historical warehouse district. The ratio of expenses to revenue amounted to
13.7 % (previous year: 11.6 %).

Against the background of these developments, earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion and amortisation (EBITDA) decreased by 27.4 % to € 287.8 million (previous year:
€ 396.3 million). The EBITDA margin declined to 19.9 % (previous year: 25.1 %).

Depreciation and amortisation rose slightly by 1.5 % year-on-year to € 178.4 million
(previous year: € 175.9 million) due to the operational launch of new multi-system locomo-
tives and the completion of a project development in the Real Estate segment.
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The operating result (EBIT) decreased by Operating result (EBIT)

50.4 % to € 109.4 million in the reporting period
(previous year: € 220.4 million). The principal in € million, EBIT margin in %
reason for this was the decrease in performance 201 228 290
data and the normalisation of storage fees at the
Hamburg container terminals. The EBIT margin
decreased strongly by 7.6 % year-on-year

(previous year: 14.0 %). In the Port Logistics

subgroup, EBIT fell by 53.9 % to € 92.9 million

, . 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
(previous year: € 201.6 million). As a result, the

subgroup accounted for 84.9 % (previous year:

91.5 %) of the Group’s operating result in the

reporting period. In the Real Estate subgroup, EBIT decreased by 12.5 % to € 16.1 million
(previous year: € 18.4 million) and accounted for 15.1 % of the Group’s operating result
(previous year: 8.5 %).

Net expenses from financial income rose by € 19.4 million, or 73.9 %, to € 45.6 million
(previous year: € 26.2 million). This change resulted primarily from interest rate-induced
changes for pension obligations and other provisions, as well as increased interest rate
expenses to banks.

At 33.6 %, the Group’s effective tax rate exceeded that of the previous year (previous year:
31.5 %).

The proportion of consolidated net income attributable to the parent company’s share-
holders decreased by 78.5 % year-on-year to € 20.0 million (previous year: € 92.7 million).
Non-controlling interests accounted for € 22.4 million in the 2023 financial year (previous
year: € 40.4 million). Earnings per share decreased by 78.5 % to € 0.27 (previous year:

€ 1.23). The publicly listed Port Logistics subgroup posted an 89.4 % drop in earnings per
share to € 0.12 (previous year: € 1.13). Earnings per share for the non-listed Real Estate
subgroup of € 4.17 were up on the prior-year figure (previous year: € 3.93). As in the
previous year, there was no difference between basic and diluted earnings per share in 2023.

The return on capital employed (ROCE) was down 5.1 percentage points year-on-year at
4.6 % (previous year: 9.7 %). Corporate and value management

HHLA’s appropriation of profits is oriented towards the development of the HHLA Group’s
earnings in the financial year ended. On this basis, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
will propose the distribution of a cash dividend of € 0.08 per entitled, listed class A share at
the Annual General Meeting on 13 June 2024. Subject to the approval of the Annual General
Meeting, the distribution for class A shares would thus amount to € 5.8 million (previous year:
€ 54.4 million). The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will propose a cash dividend of

€ 2.20 (previous year: € 2.20) per non-listed class S share. The sum to be distributed for
class S shares would thus amount to € 5.9 million (previous year: € 5.9 million).
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Financial position

Balance sheet analysis

Compared to the previous year, the HHLA Group’s balance sheet total increased by a total
of € 239.3 million to € 3,010.2 million as of 31 December 2023.

Balance sheet structure

in € million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Assets

Non-current assets 2,491.6 2,278.4

Current assets 518.6 492.5
3,010.2 2,770.9

Equity and liabilities

Equity 807.3 873.3

Non-current liabilities 1,789.8 1,571.9

Current liabilities 413.1 325.7
3,010.2 2,770.9

On the assets side of the balance sheet, non-current assets rose by € 213.2 million to

€ 2,491.6 million (previous year: € 2,278.4 million). The change was mainly due to an
increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, resulting from the first-time
consolidation of the new companies as well as from capital expenditure (less scheduled
depreciation and amortisation). In addition, deferred tax assets increased by € 25.8 million to
€ 99.9 million (previous year: € 74.1 million).

Current assets rose by € 26.0 million to € 518.6 million (previous year: € 492.5 million). This
increase resulted mainly from a rise in cash, cash equivalents and short-term deposits of

€ 81.1 million to € 197.5 million (previous year: € 116.4 million) and from income tax receiv-
ables. A decrease in trade receivables of € 41.5 million to € 164.6 million (previous year:

€ 206.1 million) and in receivables from related parties had an opposing effect.

On the liabilities side, equity fell year-on-year by Equity

€ 66.0 million to € 807.3 million (previous year:
€ 873.3 million). This was partly due to the distri-
bution of dividends and the reclassification to 873

in € million

807

financial liabilities of the potential obligation from
a put option. The sale of a non-controlling
interest in a fully consolidated company as well
as the positive result for the reporting period of

€ 42.4 million had an opposing effect. The equity

. . 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ratio decreased to 26.8 % (previous year:

31.5 %). — Equity ratio in %
= Dynamic gearing ratio
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Non-current liabilities rose by € 218.0 million to € 1,789.8 million (previous year:
€ 1,571.9 million). The increase is primarily due to the rise in non-current financial liabilities of
€ 240.5 million. Other changes within non-current liabilities offset each other.

The increase of € 87.3 million in current liabilities to € 413.1 million (previous year:

€ 325.7 million) resulted mainly from the rise of € 41.3 million in current liabilities to related
parties to € 91.3 million (previous year: € 50.0 million) and of € 34.1 million in current finan-
cial liabilities to € 115.5 million (previous year: € 81.4 million).

Investment analysis

Capital expenditure totalled € 314.0 million in the 2023 financial year (previous year:

€ 203.1 million). This figure includes additions of € 32.7 million from rights of use (rent and
leases) not recognised as a direct cash expense (previous year: € 18.8 million). Capital
expenditure focused on extending the Hamburg container terminals and expanding inter-
modal handling and transport capacities. Investment projects were funded by both operating
cash flow and cash flow from financing activities.

Property, plant and equipment accounted for € 276.9 million (previous year: € 168.0 million)
of capital expenditure, while intangible assets accounted for € 18.6 million (previous
year: € 13.6 million) and investment property for € 18.5 million (previous year: € 21.5 million).

Investments amounting to € 184.5 million were made in the Container segment (previous
year: € 80.4 million). Excluding, intra-Group asset transfers, this figure amounted to

€ 174.6 million. Capital expenditure was dominated by the procurement of handling equip-
ment and storage capacities at the Hamburg container terminals. Investments in the Inter-
modal segment amounted to € 44.1 million (previous year: € 82.6 million). METRANS
accounted for most of this capital expenditure, investing mainly in the development of
existing and new inland terminals. Capital expenditure in the Logistics segment, including
intra-Group asset transfers, amounted to € 122.3 million (previous year: € 14.1 million).
Excluding these transfers, capital expenditure totalled € 65.7 million and chiefly related to
the procurement of container wagons and locomotives at the newly established leasing
company in the Intermodal segment. The pro forma Holding/Other segment invested a total
of € 8.4 million (previous year: € 4.1 million). Capital expenditure of € 21.2 million in the Real
Estate segment (previous year: € 22.7 million) was mainly for the development of the
Speicherstadt historical warehouse district.

The drivers for capital expenditure in the Container segment were the deployment of cutting-
edge handling technology to increase productivity in existing terminal areas and the needs-
oriented expansion of berths to reflect the increasing size of ships. In the Intermodal
segment, investments focused in particular on raising the performance and range of its
hinterland connections.
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As of year-end, there were other financial liabilities for outstanding purchase commitments

of € 306.1 million (previous year: € 225.0 million). This figure includes € 223.9 million

(previous year: € 155.6 million) for the capitalisation of property, plant and equipment.

Investments, depreciation and amortisation

Capital expenditure by segment

in € million Capital expenditure 2023: € 314 million
314 7% 3%
Real Estate Holding/Other
203 176 178 14 %
Intermodal 55 %
B Investments Container
B Depreciation
and amortisation 21 %
2022 2023 Logistics
Liquidity analysis
Liquidity analysis
in € million 2023 2022
Financial funds as of 01.01. 171.5 173.0
Cash flow from operating activities 224.4 279.3
Cash flow from investing activities -251.5 -152.6
Free cash flow -271 126.7
Cash flow from financing activities 97.7 -127.9
Change in financial funds 70.6 -1.2
Change in financial funds due to exchange rates 0.2 -0.3
Financial funds as of 31.12. 2423 171.5
Short-term deposits 0 20.0
Available liquidity 242.3 191.5
In the reporting period, cash flow from operating activities of € 212.8 million (previous
year: € 279.3 million) mainly comprised earnings before interest and taxes of € 109.4 million
(previous year: € 220.4 million), write-downs and write-ups on non-financial assets of
€ 178.4 million (previous year: € 175.9 million) and the decrease in trade receivables and
other assets of € 50.6 million (previous year: increase of € 23.1 million). The main item with
an opposing effect were lower income tax payments of € 55.9 million (previous year:
€ 73.1 million).
Investing activities led to a cash outflow of € 251.5 million (previous year: € 152.6 million).
This chiefly related to payments for investments in property, plant and equipment and invest-
ment property amounting to € 258.4 million (previous year: € 165.5 million).
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Free cash flow - the total cash flow from operating and investing activities — decreased to
€ - 27.1 million (previous year: € 126.7 million).

Cash flow from financing activities came to € 97.7 million in the reporting period (previous
year: € - 127.9 million) and mainly comprised newly taken out financial loans of

€ 248.5 million (previous year: € 67.3 million) as well as payments received from the reduc-
tion of shareholdings in fully consolidated companies. There was an opposing effect from
dividend payments and settlement obligations to shareholders of the parent company
totalling € 60.3 million (previous year: € 60.1 million) and to non-controlling interests totalling
€ 43.9 million (previous year: € 35.2 million), as well as payments for the redemption of lease
obligations totalling € 51.2 million (previous year: € 49.4 million).

The HHLA Group had sufficient liquidity as of year-end 2023. There were no liquidity bottle-
necks in the course of the financial year. Financial funds totalled € 242.3 million as of

31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: € 171.5 million) and corresponded to the available
liquidity as of the balance sheet date (as of 31 December 2022: € 191.5 million). As of

31 December 2023, available liquidity comprised cash pooling receivables from HGV
Hamburger Gesellschaft fir Vermégens- und Beteiligungsmanagement mbH amounting to
€ 44.8 million (31 December 2022: € 75.1 million) as well as cash, cash equivalents and
short-term deposits of € 197.5 million (31 December 2022: € 116.4 million).

Financing analysis

Financial management at the HHLA Group is handled centrally and serves the overriding
objective of ensuring the Group’s long-term financial stability and flexibility. Group clearing
pools the Group’s financial resources optimises net interest income and substantially
reduces dependency on external sources of funding. Derivative financial instruments can be
used to reduce the risk of changes in interest rates and, to a minor extent, to reduce
currency and commodity price risks.

HHLA’s business model is dominated by a large proportion of property, plant and equipment
with long useful lives. For this reason, HHLA mainly takes out medium- and long-term loans
and leases to achieve funding with matching maturities. Pension provisions are also avail-
able for long-term internal financing.

At € 559.6 million as of the balance sheet date, liabilities from bank loans were above the
prior-year figure of € 354.8 million. The Group drew on financing of € 248.5 million in the
2023 financial year (previous year: € 67.3 million). During the reporting year, payments for the
redemption of loans amounted to € 34.2 million (previous year: € 50.0 million). Due to the
diversified maturity profile and its stable liquidity position, the company had no significant
refinancing requirements. The taking out of additional credit mainly results from investment
activities.

As of the balance sheet date, liabilities from bank loans were denominated almost exclu-
sively in euros. As a result of borrowing, certain affiliates had covenants linked to key
balance sheet figures. These mostly require a minimum equity ratio or compliance with a
maximum gearing ratio. Covenants are currently in place for approximately 23 % of bank
loans. In the reporting period, the loan covenants were met at all agreed review dates.
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As of the balance sheet date, HHLA disclosed Maturities of bank loans

non-current liabilities to related parties

. - ; i ill
totalling € 396.4 million (previous year: by year and in € million

€ 431.4 million). These mainly resulted from the 169
recognition of the leasing liability to the

Hamburg Port Authority (HPA). 101

The leases relate primarily to long-term agree- 51 53 37 3o 49 31
ments between the HHLA Group and either the l I . . 1-5 a .
Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg or HPA for 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033+

leasing land and quay walls in the Port of
Hamburg and the Speicherstadt historical ware-
house district.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term deposits, the bulk of which is held centrally by the
holding company, totalled € 197.5 million as of the balance sheet date (previous year:

€ 116.4 million). These funds are mainly invested at German financial institutions with verified
high credit ratings as demand deposits, call money and short-term deposits. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group had unused credit facilities amounting to € 173.7 million
(previous year: € 171.3 million). The credit line utilisation rate amounted to 20.1 %. In the
financial year under review, a syndicated loan of € 200.0 million was taken out as a credit
line for operating equipment; as of the balance sheet date, € 164.0 million remained
undrawn. The Group drew on credit facilities not used in the previous year in the amount of
€160.0 million in the period under review. Of the total cash and cash equivalents, an amount
of € 0.5 million as of the reporting date (previous year: € 0.3 million) was subject to restric-
tions in Ukraine relating to the transfer of currency abroad.

As HHLA has a large number of borrowing options at its disposal outside of the capital
market, the Group currently sees no need for an external rating. Instead, it provides existing
and potential creditors with comprehensive information to ensure they can derive appro-
priate internal credit ratings. Furthermore, Deutsche Bundesbank once again confirmed the
Group’s eligibility for central bank finance.

Public subsidies awarded for individual development projects that are subject to specific
conditions are of minor importance in terms of their volume at Group level.

Acquisitions, disposals and other changes to the consolidated
Group

With the share purchase and transfer agreement dated 22 December 2022,

HHLA Next GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, acquired a 51.0 % stake in Survey Compass GmbH,
Treben, Germany. The object of the company is the provision of online content, the transfer
of software and hardware, and consultancy in the logistics and transport industry (focusing
on railways, ships, aircraft and trucks) as well as associated industries. The closing of the
transaction (corresponding to the acquisition date) was tied to various conditions and took
place on 17 January 2023. The first-time consolidation of the company took place on the
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acquisition date. The company was incorporated into HHLA’s group of consolidated compa-
nies as of 31 March 2023.

With a share purchase and transfer agreement dated 2 March 2023, the subsidiary Metrans
a.s., Prague, Czech Republic, acquired a 51.0 % stake in Adria Rail d.o.o., Rijeka, Croatia.
This company has two subsidiaries (Adria Rail operator d.o.o., Rijeka, Croatia, and
DRUSTVO ZA INTERMODALNI PREVOZ | USLUGE ADRIA RAIL DOO INDIJA, Indija, Serbia;
in each case with a shareholding of 100 %). The purpose of the company is to provide
forwarding and transport services with daily rail operations between the port of Rijeka and
Serbia. The closing of the transaction (corresponding to the acquisition date) took place on
2 March 2023. The first-time consolidation of the company took place on the acquisition
date. The company was incorporated into HHLA’s group of consolidated companies as of
31 March 2023.

Due to the development of business of the company DRUSTVO ZA INTERMODALNI
PREVOZ | USLUGE ADRIA RAIL DOO INDIJA, Indija, Serbia, in the fourth quarter of 2023,
this company was incorporated into HHLA’s group of consolidated companies as of

31 December 2023.

As of 31 March 2023, METRANS Rail sp. z.0.0., Gadki, Poland, which was newly established
in the 2022 financial year, was incorporated into HHLA’s group of consolidated companies
for the first time.

The company HHLA Container Terminal Altenwerder GmbH, Hamburg (CTA), in which
HHLA AG holds 74.9 % of the shares, transferred all its shares in SCA Service Center
Altenwerder GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, (SCA), to HHLA AG effective 1 January 2023. The
stake held in SCA thus increased from 74.9 % (indirectly) to 100 % (directly).

The disposal date of the share disposal agreement for a non-controlling interest of 24.99 %
in HHLA Container Terminal Tollerort GmbH, Hamburg (CTT) concluded on 19 June 2023
between HHLA AG and Grand Dragon Investment Enterprise Limited, Hong Kong, China, a
subsidiary of COSCO SHIPPING Ports Limited, Hong Kong, China (CSP), is 20 June 2023.
This change in the HHLA Group’s shareholding in a subsidiary is recognised directly in
equity as an equity transaction as it does not lead to a loss of control. The costs of this
equity transaction are also to be recognised directly in equity as a deduction from the capital

reserve.

With the share purchase and transfer agreement dated 31 July 2023, HHLA PLT ltaly S.r.l.,
Trieste, Italy (PLT), acquired a 100.0 % stake in Logistica Giuliana S.r.l., Trieste, ltaly. The
purpose of the company is business operations as a port enterprise, which mainly
comprises the land and seaborne handling and storage of goods as well as the provision of
other related port logistics services. The closing of the transaction (corresponding to the
acquisition date) was tied to various conditions and took place on 14 December 2023. With
this transaction, the interest held by HHLA International GmbH, Hamburg (HIG), in PLT
increased from 50.01 % to 75.00 %. The first-time consolidation of the company took place
on the acquisition date. The company was incorporated into HHLA's group of consolidated
companies as of 31 December 2023.
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There were no other significant acquisitions, changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries or
changes to the consolidated group in the 2023 financial year. For details of company acqui-
sitions after the balance sheet date, please refer to Events after the balance sheet date.

Segment performance

Container segment

Key figures

in € million 2023 2022 Change
Revenue 708.8 864.2 -18.0 %
EBITDA 146.6 2571 -43.0 %
EBITDA margin in % 20.7 29.7 -9.0pp
EBIT 47.2 157.3 -70.0 %
EBIT margin in % 6.7 18.2 -11.5pp
Container throughput in thousand TEU 5,917 6,396 -75%

In the 2023 reporting year, there was a significant overall year-on-year decline in container
throughput at HHLA’s container terminals of 7.5 % to 5,917 thousand standard containers
(TEU) (previous year: 6,396 thousand TEU).

At 5,687 thousand TEU, throughput volume at Container throughput

the Hamburg container terminals was down

. . in thousand TEU
6.3 % on the same period last year (previous

year: 6,071 thousand TEU). The main driver of 7,577
6776 6943 ga9e

this development was the decline in volumes of 5,917
the Far East shipping region, and China in

particular. The positive momentum from North

American cargo volumes and the throughput

volumes of the Middle East could only partially
. ) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
offset this trend. Feeder traffic volumes were

also strongly down on the previous year. In addi-

tion to the reduction in Swedish and Polish

traffic, volumes from Russia were also absent due to the sanctions imposed. Finnish and
Lithuanian cargo volumes, on the other hand, made good progress. The proportion of
seaborne handling by feeders decreased year-on-year to 18.6 % (previous year: 19.8 %).

The international container terminals reported a sharp decline in throughput volume of
29.1 % to 231 thousand TEU (previous year: 326 thousand TEU). This was due in particular
to the significant decrease in cargo volumes at Container Terminal Odessa (CTO) after
seaborne handling there was suspended by the authorities at the end of February 2022
following the Russian invasion. Only grain ships operating under the Black Sea Grain Initia-
tive were occasionally handled there. There has also been an absence of extra calls at the
TK Estonia container terminal as an alternative to Russian ports in 2023 compared to the
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previous year. The notable increase in throughput volumes at the multi-function terminal
HHLA PLT Italy was unable to offset this shortfall.

Revenue in this segment fell by 18.0 % in the reporting period to € 708.8 million (previous
year: € 864.2 million). In addition to the significant decrease in volumes, this was mainly due
to shorter dwell times for containers being handled at the Hamburg terminals compared to
the previous year, when supply chain disruptions had led to increased storage fees. Revenue
was also adversely affected by the official suspension of operations at CTO and the transfer
of HHLA-Personal-Service GmbH (HPSG) from the pro-forma Holding/Other segment to the
Container segment.

There was a significant net decline in operating income and expenses included in the oper-
ating result (defined in total as EBIT costs) of 6.4 % in the reporting period. This was mainly
due to the significant volume-related decline in personnel expenses, the mainly volume and
energy-price related sharp fall in material expenses and the closure of CTO since March last
year. Other operating income also rose due to the reversal of other liabilities for ship delays
in 2022, as well as further reimbursements such as the reversal of expenses in connection
with machinery breakdown insurance at the Hamburg container terminals. Expenses for
external maintenance services, as well as for consulting, services and insurance, were
reduced significantly. Notable drivers of this trend were the measures to safeguard earnings
implemented in March 2023 at the Altenwerder, Burchhardkai and Tollerort container termi-
nals. By contrast, EBIT costs at the Trieste terminal rose year-on-year due to additional
cargo volumes. The integration of HHLA-Personal-Service GmbH into the Container
segment also had a negative impact on earnings.

Against this backdrop, the operating result (EBIT) decreased by 70.0 % to € 47.2 million in
the reporting period (previous year: € 157.3 million). The EBIT margin fell by 11.5 percentage
points to 6.7 % (previous year: 18.2 %).

HHLA continued to invest in climate-friendly terminal technology in 2023 with a view to
improving energy efficiency and thus also future cost-effectiveness. The completion of the
first delivery lot of new container gantry cranes continued at Container Terminal Altenwerder
(CTA). These new container gantry cranes will enhance the already high level of automation.
The electrification of the fleet of automated guided vehicles (AGVs) has been completed.
Orders were also placed for ten further battery-powered tractor units and the required
energy supply infrastructure. This investment is in line with the HHLA sustainability strategy
and underscores the leading position of CTA as the world’s first certified climate-neutral
terminal. Container Terminal Burchardkai (CTB) continued to drive the expansion and
commissioning of additional automatic blocks, thus also supporting efforts to modernise
and enhance the efficiency of the terminals. Eight hybrid container vehicles were adopted as
replacement investments for the Container Terminal Tollerort (CTT); to date, three existing
units have been scrapped. These new vehicles consume significantly less fuel than diesel-
powered vehicles. In addition, the hazardous goods storage facility has been renovated in
order to ensure that hazardous goods can continue to be stored safely. This work was
completed at the end of 2023.
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Intermodal segment

Financial statements

Further information

Key figures
in € million 2023 2022 Change
Revenue 620.5 595.4 42 %
EBITDA 124.8 143.9 -13.3%
EBITDA margin in % 20.1 24.2 -4.1pp
EBIT 72.9 95.3 -236 %
EBIT margin in % 11.7 16.0 -4.3 pp
Container transport in thousand TEU 1,602 1,694 -5.4%
In the highly competitive market for container traffic in the hinterland of major seaports,
HHLA'’s transport companies recorded a significant decrease in volumes in 2023. Container
transport decreased in total by 5.4 % to 1,602 thousand standard containers (TEU)
(previous year: 1,694 thousand TEU).
Rail transport fell year-on-year by 3.1 % to Container transport
1,365 thousand TEU (previous year: 1,409 thou-
sand TEU). All the main routes were affected by in thousand TEU
the decrease, in particular Polish traffic. There 1,565 1536 1,690 1,694 1,602
was a decrease in road transport of 16.9 % to
226 thousand TEU (previous year: 285 thousand
TEU). In particular, this was due to the continued
downward trend of transport in the Hamburg
region.
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
With a year-on-year increase of 4.2 % to
€ 620.5 million (previous year: € 595.4 million),
the development of revenue contrasted sharply
with that of transport volumes. This was due to the increased level of transport revenue
already reached in the previous year, when it had been adapted to increased costs for the
purchase of services, and in particular energy. The increase in rail's share of HHLA'’s total
intermodal transport volume from 83.2 % to 85.2 % also had a positive effect on revenue.
The operating result (EBIT) amounted to € 72.9 million in the reporting period (previous
year: € 95.3 million), representing a decrease of 23.6 %. The EBIT margin fell by
4.3 percentage points to 11.7 % (previous year: 16.0 %). The main reason for the downward
EBIT trend was the decrease in transport volumes. In addition to increased union wage
rates, the expansion of operations in rail transport also had an adverse effect.
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HHLA continued to invest as needed in the expansion of its intermodal network in the past
financial year. The decrease in route prices for German rail freight applied in mid-2018 is
bolstering the development of the intermodal service portfolio. HHLA's rail subsidiary
METRANS put ten new multi-system locomotives into operation during 2023. It now has
approximately 140 shunters and locomotives, as well as a fleet of almost 3,900 container
wagons. The network consists of 20 terminals in the hinterland, of which seven function as
hub terminals. Group overview/business activities

Logistics segment

Key figures

in € million 2023 2022 Change
Revenue 78.2 77.6 0.8 %
EBITDA 10.6 4.9 113.8 %
EBITDA margin in % 13.5 6.4 7.1 pp
EBIT 0.6 -6.9 pos.
EBIT margin in % 0.7 -8.8 pos.
At-equity earnings 4.1 4.2 -22%

The key financial figures for the Logistics segment include the vehicle logistics, consultancy
and digital services divisions, a leasing company for the Intermodal segment and business
activities with which HHLA aims to tap new growth fields. The results from dry bulk and fruit
logistics are included in at-equity earnings.

The consolidated companies reported revenue of € 78.2 million in the 2023 financial year,
up 0.8 % on the prior-year figure of € 77.6 million. The leasing company not yet included in
the previous year was able to more than offset lower revenue in the vehicle logistics, consul-
tancy and digital services divisions.

The operating result (EBIT) amounted to € 0.6 million in the reporting period (previous year:
€ - 6.9 million). The previous year was burdened by an impairment of around € 4 million for
activities aimed at opening up new growth fields. The vehicle logistics division and the newly
incorporated leasing company contributed to the improvement in earnings during the
reporting period.

At-equity earnings of € 4.1 million in the Logistics segment in the 2023 financial year were
down slightly on the prior-year figure (previous year: € 4.2 million).
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Real Estate segment

Key figures

in € million 2023 2022 Change
Revenue 46.5 441 5.3 %
EBITDA 25.8 26.6 -31%
EBITDA margin in % 5.5 60.3 -4.8 pp
EBIT 16.1 18.4 -125%
EBIT margin in % 34.7 41.8 -7.1pp

According to Grossmann & Berger’s latest market report, Hamburg’s office rental market was
unable to build on the dynamic closing of the previous year, despite a high level of revenue
in the fourth quarter. It stated that the area of office space let in 2023 fell by 19 % compared
with the previous year to approx. 455,000 m?. The vacancy rate rose by 0.6 percentage
points to 4.6 % compared with the prior-year period.

In this market environment, however, HHLA’s properties in the Speicherstadt historical ware-
house district and the fish market area succeeded in continuing their positive trend from the
2023 financial year with almost full occupancy in both areas.

Revenue rose by 5.3 % in the reporting period to € 46.5 million (previous year:

€ 44.1 million). In addition to increased income from revenue-based rent agreements, this
growth was also due to rising rental income from newly developed properties in the Speich-
erstadt historical warehouse district.

This significant revenue growth was offset by a planned temporary vacancy for facade reno-
vation to increase the energy efficiency of a property and increased maintenance expenses
in the fourth quarter. Moreover, higher depreciation and amortisation following a completed
project development and demolition costs as part of preparations for a major construction
project in the fish market area also had a negative impact on earnings. As a result, the
cumulative operating result (EBIT) decreased strongly by 12.5 % to € 16.1 million in the
reporting period (previous year: € 18.4 million).

Events after the balance sheet date

Annette Walter was appointed as a Member of the Executive Board effective 1 January 2024
and took on the role of Chief Financial Officer.

There were no other events of special significance after the balance sheet date of
31 December 2023.
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Notes to HHLA AG prepared in line with the German
Commercial Code (HGB)

Unlike the consolidated financial statements, the annual financial statements for Hamburger
Hafen und Logistik Aktiengesellschaft (HHLA AG) are not prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Instead, they are based on the regulations
contained in the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Company overview

Structure and commercial activities

Hamburger Hafen und Logistik AG (HHLA) is a leading European port logistics group.
HHLA AG is the parent company of the HHLA Group and controls the Group as a strategic
management holding company. Its operating business is conducted by 37 domestic and
31 foreign subsidiaries and associated firms. In the 2023 financial year, HHLA increased its
group of consolidated companies with a view to optimising its Intermodal business and
expanding its digital activities. No other significant legal or organisational changes were
made.

HHLA AG is a legally independent company that was split into two divisions — the A division
and the S division — in the course of the initial public offering on 2 November 2007. The

A division represents the Port Logistics subgroup. The class A shares, which are listed on
the stock exchange, merely entitle shareholders to participate in the result and net assets of
these commercial operations. The performance and financial result of the Real Estate
subgroup are attributed to the S division. Class S shares are not traded on the stock
exchange and are held solely by the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg (FHH). In the
unlikely and unprecedented event of the Real Estate subgroup reporting a loss, this would
be indirectly transferred to the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg in line with a separate
agreement to assume losses.

On 13 September 2023, Port of Hamburg Beteiligungsgesellschaft SE (the “bidder”), a
wholly-owned direct subsidiary of MSC Mediterranean Shipping Company S.A., Switzerland
(MSC), notified HHLA of its decision to submit a voluntary public takeover bid in relation to
the class A shares. A total of 69.3 % of the class A shares (equal to 50,215,336 class A
shares) are currently held by HGV Hamburger Gesellschaft flir Vermdgens- und Beteiligungs-
management mbH (HGV) and 30.7 % (equal to 22,299,602 class A shares) are in free float.
The takeover bid took the form of a cash offer against payment of a consideration of € 16.75
in cash per class A share to the shareholders of HHLA. Furthermore, the bidder stated that
in connection with the takeover offer, MSC and the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg
(FHH) had entered into a binding agreement on 13 September 2023, which establishes the
basic parameters and terms of the takeover offer as well as the mutual intentions and under-
standings of the parties with respect to the company.

In addition, a binding preliminary contract for a Business Combination Agreement was
concluded on 5 November 2023 between HHLA, the bidder and its sole shareholder at the
time, SAS Shipping Agencies Services Sarl (SAS), as well as HGV, that sets out the common
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understanding of the key points regarding the long-term preservation of HHLA and its busi-
ness model and contains key commitments vis-a-vis HHLA.

In a joint reasoned statement as per Section 27 of the German Securities and Takeover Act
(WpUG) on the takeover bid, dated 6 November 2023, the Executive Board and Supervisory
Board of HHLA recommended that the shareholders accept the bid.

On 12 December 2023, it was published that, by the end of the extended acceptance period
on 7 December 2023, MSC had been tendered 9.7 % of the class A shares in free float. As
of 31 December 2023, the bidder also held shares acquired on the market amounting to
12.4 % of HHLA's share capital.

Employees

HHLA AG had a total of 987 employees as of 31 December 2023 (previous year: 1,014).

Of this number, 199 received wages (previous year: 218), 729 received a salary (previous
year: 726) and 59 were apprentices (previous year: 70). Of the 987 staff members, 335 were
assigned to companies within the HHLA Group in the reporting year.

Economic environment

The macroeconomic and sector developments are largely in line with those at the HHLA
Group. Economic environment

Earnings position

Key figures

in € million 2023 2022 Change
Revenue 141.4 138.5 21 %
Other income and expenses -134.3 -181.4 26.0 %
Operating result 71 -42.9 pos.
Financial result 14.8 -6.7 pos.
Result from equity investments 67.9 114.9 -409 %
Income taxes 15.3 -18.1 pos.
Net profit 105.1 47.2 122.7 %

The revenue generated by HHLA AG resulted mainly from the charging of personnel
expenses for holding company staff assigned to the spun-off Container and Logistics
segments, and from billing administrative services for IT systems which are pooled within
HHLA AG. Revenue totalled € 141.4 million in the reporting period (previous year:

€ 138.5 million). The rise of € 2.9 million mainly resulted from services billed to subsidiaries
of HHLA AG.

Other income and expenses improved earnings by an additional € 47.1 million compared
with the previous year. This was mainly the result of an accounting gain from the sale of a
24.99 % stake in HHLA Container Terminal Tollerort GmbH, Hamburg (CTT), as well as
income from the reversal of provisions.
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There was a positive trend in the financial result as a result of improved terms for invest-
ment.

The change in income from equity investments was mainly due to the performance of the
Container segment. The net profits of HHLA AG’s subsidiaries and equity investments
recognised in profit or loss decreased year-on-year by € 47.0 million to € 67.9 million
(previous year: € 114.9 million).

Reported income tax is largely influenced by the capitalisation of deferred taxes on tax loss
carry-forwards as at 31 December 2023. The termination and reworking of profit and loss
transfer agreements and the loss carryback to the assessment year 2021 also influenced
reported income tax.

As the basis for calculating the dividend, the company’s annual net profit is the key perfor-
mance indicator for HHLA AG and amounted to € 105.1 million in the reporting period
(previous year: € 47.2 million). The A division accounted for € 94.2 million of this amount
(previous year: € 38.1 million) and the S division for € 10.9 million (previous year:

€ 9.1 million).

The difference between the actual net profit and guidance is mainly attributable to income
from the reversal of provisions and increased interest income due to improved investment
conditions.

Forecast and actual figures

in € million Actual 2023 Actual 2022 Forecast 2023
Net profit 105.1 47.2 at previous year's level
Assets

Balance sheet structure

in € million 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Assets

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 36.5 33.3
Financial assets 925.0 469.8
Other assets 617.0 848.0
Balance sheet total 1,578.5 1,351.1

Equity and liabilities

Equity 547.5 502.8
Pension provisions 323.3 334.8
Other liabilities 707.7 513.5
Balance sheet total 1,578.5 1,351.1
Equity ratio in % 34.7 37.2
Intensity of investments in % 2.3 2.5
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The carrying amounts of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment totalled
€ 36.5 million at the balance sheet date (previous year: € 33.3 million). Capital expenditure
on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment amounted to € 7.8 million in the
reporting period (previous year: € 5.6 million). Capital expenditure focused mainly on
expanding the IT landscape.

The total increase in financial assets of € 455.2 million to € 925.0 million was mainly due to
the above-mentioned expansion of the Intermodal business and digital activities, as well the
issuance of loans.

Equity increased by € 44.7 million compared to year-end 2022. This increase is due to the
net profit for the year of € 105.1 million and the distribution of a cash dividend of
€ 60.4 million.

Development in pension provisions

in € million 2023 2022
Carrying amount on 01.01. 334.8 342.7
Expense recognised in profit and loss 7.5 11.3
Pension payments -19.0 -19.2
Carrying amount on 31.12. 323.3 334.8

HHLA AG uses the projected unit credit method to value entitlements associated with
existing pension obligations. Future obligations are projected based on past service and
possible future service prior to the insured event occurring. Anticipated future pension and
pay increases are also taken into account. An average market interest rate for the past ten
years of 1.82 % set by the Deutsche Bundesbank was applied for the reporting year
(previous year: 1.78 %). In accordance with Section 253 (2) sentence 2 HGB, a remaining
term of 15 years is used as a basis for the pension provision, which amounted to

€ 3283.3 million as of the balance sheet date (previous year: € 334.8 million).

Financial position

Cash flow from operating activities totalled € 152.6 million in the reporting period (previous
year: € 117.0 million). This item was strongly influenced by the operating result and the
income received from equity investments. Due to the reclassification of a cash pooling
agreement as a medium-term loan, cash flow from investing activities declined sharply and
financial funds fell to € 370.2 million (previous year: € 509.2 million). The remaining capital
expenditure was funded by means of cash flow from operating activities and the assumption
of loans.

In connection with existing cash pooling agreements, capital funds comprised receivables
from subsidiaries of € 205.0 million (previous year: € 374.5 million), cash and cash equiva-
lents in the form of bank balances totalling € 120.4 million (previous year: € 59.7 million) —
of which € 55.0 million (previous year: € 20.0 million) was short-term bank deposits — and
clearing receivables of € 44.8 million (previous year: € 75.0 million) due from Hamburger
Gesellschaft fur Vermdgens- und Beteiligungsmanagement mbH, Hamburg (HGV).
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The S division of HHLA AG participates in the cash clearing system operated by HGV. The
A division also utilises the option of investing surplus liquidity with HGV whenever this is
advantageous for HHLA AG.

Liquidity analysis
in € million 2023 2022
Financial funds as of 01.01. 509.2 446.7
Cash flow from operating activities 152.6 117.0
Cash flow from investing activities -426.3 -21.4
Cash flow from financing activities 134.7 -33.1
Financial funds as of 31.12. 370.2 509.2
of which receivables from subsidiaries 205.0 374.5
of which cash and cash equivalents 165.2 134.7

Risk and opportunity report

Business developments at HHLA AG are generally subject to the same risks and opportuni-
ties as those of the HHLA Group. HHLA AG shares in the risks of its subsidiaries and equity
investments in line with its respective shareholding.

As the parent company of the HHLA Group, HHLA AG is incorporated into the Group-wide
risk and opportunity management system. The risk and opportunity report contained in the
combined management report provides a description of the internal control system as
required by Section 289 (4) HGB. Risk and opportunity management

Business forecast

Outlook

Due to its close ties with the affiliated companies and its weight within the Group, the expec-
tations for HHLA AG are reflected in the business forecast for the Group as a whole. It is
anticipated that the statements made for the HHLA Group regarding market and revenue
developments will largely be mirrored by the revenue of HHLA AG. Furthermore, the income
from equity investments will significantly influence HHLA AG’s earnings. Business forecast

Expected earnings position in 2024

On the basis of the expected earnings position of the HHLA Group, as outlined in the busi-
ness forecast for the Group, and the previous comments, HHLA AG anticipates a strong
year-on-year decrease in its annual profit. Due to the uncertain environment described in the
Group’s business forecast, a reliable outlook for HHLA AG is also still not possible. Expected
Group performance

Expected financial position in 2024

Based on the liquidity management measures outlined in the business forecast for the Group,
HHLA AG expects its financial position to remain stable. Expected Group performance
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Dividend

As in the previous year, HHLA AG’s appropriation of profits is based on the development of
earnings in the financial year ended. The distributable profit and stable financial position
provide the foundation for a continuation of the company’s stated dividend policy.
Earnings position

Risks, opportunities and forecast

Management of risks and opportunities

All commercial activities inevitably entail both risks and opportunities. HHLA believes that
the effective management of risks and opportunities is a significant success factor in the
sustainable enhancement of enterprise value.

Managing risks and opportunities is a key component of the HHLA Group’s management
strategy. The planning and controlling process, the reporting system and the boards of the
Group’s affiliates are all cornerstones of this risk and opportunity management system.

At regular business development meetings, HHLA’s Executive Board discusses strategy,
targets and control measures, with due consideration of the risk and opportunity profile.

HHLA'’s risk and opportunity management system fosters a keen awareness of dealing with
corporate risks and opportunities. It aims to identify risks in good time and take steps to
manage or avert them while exploiting opportunities and preventing situations that could
jeopardise the existence of the HHLA Group. An important element of the system is the
promotion of entrepreneurial thinking and independent, responsible action.

Risk and opportunity management system

Structure of the system

The risk and opportunity management system is an essential part of HHLA’'s corporate gover-
nance system. lts structure is based on the international risk management standard “COSO
Enterprise Risk Management (2013)”. Key elements of the risk management system are:
identifying, assessing, managing, monitoring and reporting risks; clear responsibilities for
process participants (Executive Board and managers of affiliates, Internal Audit, Group
Controlling); incorporating all majority shareholdings and companies consolidated using the
equity method into the risk consolidation group. The Executive Board bears overall responsi-
bility. Its members deal with and assess the risk management reports on a quarterly basis.

Risks are catalogued regularly in the course of the annual planning process. All identified
risks are described clearly and classified according to defined risk areas.
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Risks are categorised by the likelihood of their occurrence and the scale of the potential
damage. This reflects the anticipated reduction of the operating result or cash flow before
taxes if the risk were to materialise.

Categorisation of the probability of occurrence

unlikely possible likely most likely
<25% =25 % =50 % =275%

Categorisation of the damage amount as proportion of Group equity' (capability)

not significant medium significant massive threatening

<1% <5% <10 % <25 % =225 %

1 Status: Planning

Risks are assessed in the context of the actual circumstances or a realistic projection. In
addition to estimates and economic or mathematical/statistical inferences, sensitivities
derived from planning can be used as a basis for assessment. The Group’s affiliates, divi-
sions and corporate staff departments regularly coordinate with the central Risk Manage-
ment unit of the holding company to ensure that all identified risks are consistently mapped
and assessed throughout the Group.

After identifying and assessing the risk, the company defines control measures aimed at
reducing the likelihood of its occurrence and/or the loss or damage. A distinction is made
between the gross risk (excluding measures) and the net risk (including measures). Based on
the provisions of the German Act to Strengthen Financial Market Integrity (FISG) with regard
to the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management systems, a systematic exami-
nation of the effectiveness of risk management measures is underway. In order to determine
risks within the Group, a systematic risk aggregation is conducted, thereby taking account
of any interdependencies of risks with risk-increasing or risk-decreasing effects.

Risks are monitored continuously and any significant changes are reported and documented
on a quarterly basis. Additional ad hoc reports are issued whenever material risks emerge,
cease to apply, or change. Risks are reported using standard Group-wide reporting formats
in order to ensure a consistent overall picture of current risks.

To supplement the established risk management system, a climate risk and vulnerability
assessment was conducted in 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the EU Taxo-
nomy and is updated every year. Specific temperature, wind, water and solids-related
climate risks for relevant business activities and their locations are assessed in terms of their
relevance, potential damage and probability of occurrence. The risk assessment is based on
current climate data on the basis of the greenhouse gas concentration pathways RCP 2.6,
RCP 4.5, RCP 6.0 and RCP 8.5 for the period up to 2050. Corresponding adaptation plans
are defined for significant climate risks. Reporting takes place once a year. Climate risks
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Opportunity management is comparable to the risk management process. Opportunities
are systematically identified and measures developed as part of an annual planning process.
When opportunities are identified, there is no requirement for them to be quantified. Oppor-
tunity management focuses on the monitoring and analysis of individual markets and on the
early recognition and assessment of trends as a means of identifying opportunities. This
includes monitoring developments affecting the overall ec<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>